RESEARCH HANDBOOK

College of Health Professions

Grand Valley State University

Physical Therapy Clinical Doctoral Program

Department of Physical Therapy

Revised April 2025



Contents

Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
Part I: FOUNDATIONS	2
RESEARCH REQUIREMENTS	
Literature Reviews	
Writing Abstracts and Critical Review	
Research Proposals	2
ETHICS IN RESEARCH	
Responsible Conduct of Research	3
Planning Your Research	3
INTEGRITY IN PRACTICE	3
APTA Integrity in Physical TherapyResearch	4
THE RIGHT, PRIVACY, AND WELL-BEING OF RESEARCHSUBJECTS	5
Rights of Subjects	
Confidentiality and Privacy	5
Risk to Subjects	6
Well-being of Subjects	6
OBSERVANCE OF THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING RESEARCH	6
Laws and Regulations	6
Institutional Requirements	7
MAINTENANCE AND PROMOTION OF PROFESSIONAL AND SCIENTIFIC ACCEPTABILITY IN RESEARCH	7
UNETHICAL, INCOMPETENT, OR ILLEGAL ACTS IN RESEARCH	9
THE LITERATURE REVIEW	10
U.S. COPYRIGHT LAW	10
WRITING ABSTRACTS	10
WRITING TIPS	12
Part II: RESEARCH DESIGN	13
RESEARCH OPTIONS AND SEQUENCE THE PHYSICAL THERAPY PROGRAM	13
RESEARCH MATCHING PROCESS	15
RESEARCH PROCESS GUIDELINES	16

Research Project	
Case Report	16
Systematic Review	
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	17
Student Responsibilities	17
Faculty Mentor Responsibilities	
Faculty/Clinician Research Team/Collaborator Responsibilities	
DESIGNING THE STUDY	19
SUGGESTED READINGS	20
Quantitative Methodological References	20
Qualitative Methodological References	21
RESEARCH PROJECT PROPOSAL CONTENT - PT 790	22
PROPOSAL APPROVAL PROCESS	26
Oral Presentation of Proposed Project	26
Defense/Questioning	26
Grading	26
THE FINAL DEFENSE	26
Oral Presentation	26
Questioning	26
Grading	27
PRESENTATION OF RESEARCH	27
PREPARING FOR PUBLICATION	28
PHYSICAL THERAPY PROGRAM DISSEMINATION POLICY	29
I. Data Ownership	
II. Authorship	
III. Dissemination	
APPENDIX A Human Subjects Review	31
MANDATE OF THE COMMITTEE	33
APPLICATION CATEGORIES FOR HUMAN SUBJECTS REVIEW	34
EXEMPT CATEGORY CRITERIA	24
EXPEDITED CATEGORY CRITERIA	35
INFORMED CONSENT	38
RESEARCH PROJECT CONTRACT	41
STANDARD RELEASE FORM	42
GRADING CRITERIA PT790: Research Project Proposal Progress	44

GRADING CRITERIA PT790: Case Report Development Progress	54
GRADING CRITERIA PT790: Systematic Review Proposal Progress	63
PHYSICAL THERAPY CASE REPORT	71
Procedures to Initiate Case Report	77
Essential Components and Guidelines for Writing a Case Report	
ASSURANCE FORM	80
PHYSICIAN NOTIFICATION	81
MINOR PATIENT ASSENT	82
CHILD PATIENT ASSENT	84
PATIENT/GUARDIAN CONSENT	85
PATIENT CONSENT	87
Essential Components and Guidelines for a Systematic Review	90
APTA MICHIGAN INSTITUTE SMALL RESEARCH GRANT PROGRAM & APPLICATION	92
CENTER FOR SCHOLARLY AND CREATIVE EXCELLENCE (CSCE)	93
SCHOLARSHIP FUNDS	93
RESEARCH POSTER PRINTING FUNDS	93
DATA ANALYSIS ASSISTANCE	95
PRESENTATION GUIDELINES	98
Preparation	99
Presentation	100
APTA MICHIGAN ABSTRACT GUIDELINES	107
Abstract Submission Instructions	107

INTRODUCTION

Physical Therapy research involves examination of the relationships among clinical phenomena and between clinical and theoretical perspectives. Physical Therapists have long been aware that much research is needed to establish valid and reliable data that will justify clinical practice.

This manual will provide you with an overview of the research requirements for the Doctorate in Physical Therapy at Grand Valley State University. It will serve as a guide for your research activities throughout the respective programs and will complement the reference materials required for your classes. Specifically, you should use this manual in conjunction with:

- the appropriate research text as recommended by your research mentor
- the appropriate style manual -- American Medical Association (AMA) or American Psychological Association (APA) as recommended by your research mentor
- the appropriate procedures to follow regarding the specific format of your research

Please familiarize yourselves with these pages. Your faculty will expect you to be responsible for their contents throughout the program. Please direct any questions to a faculty member who will be happy to help you find the information you need.

Please keep in mind that this handbook should be used as your primary reference.



Part I: FOUNDATIONS

During the first phase of the Doctorate in Physical Therapy (DPT) program, students establish a foundation for engaging in a research project. The final portion of the program is devoted to the research requirement in which students perform their own studies.

RESEARCH REQUIREMENTS

Research begins with identifying the sources of our existing knowledge base, an understanding of the research process, and a comparison of different types of research and of the philosophical base for each. Next, students must gain an appreciation of the role of theory in clinical research and of the ethical issues that the process raises.

Literature Reviews

The ability to distill important information from a large quantity of material gives the researcher the means to quickly identify material relevant to their subject and to determine what material will apply to their own work. In PT 510 students begin to summarize and analyze the work of others by reviewing articles on a subject. Students will conduct more extensive literature reviews later in the program starting in the fall semester of the second year in PT 610 and will continue as they perform and complete their research in PT 790 and PT 793.

Writing Abstracts and Critical Review

Writing abstracts also refines the ability to distill and summarize important information. In many courses in the three curricula, students will practice summarizing specific research studies with a written abstract of the literature. Because the faculty believes that this skill is extremely important, students will continue to write abstracts throughout the program and learn to critique the work of others. Students learn to write abstracts and critically evaluate the importance of research studies to the field of knowledge.

Research Proposals

To write a research proposal, practitioners must have a solid understanding of basic facts and theories in their area of interest and use their understanding and curiosity to generate testable or theory generating questions (hypotheses). Clinicians also must have a working knowledge of measurement theory and concepts and be able to apply design principles and statistical tests for quantitative studies, as well as measures of trustworthiness for qualitative studies, as appropriate. Students will be able to practice developing these skills during their respective programs.

ETHICS IN RESEARCH

Scientists subscribe to a code of ethics for the research process (Portney and Watkins, 2009). Ethics become important in planning a project, in implementing it, and in protecting human dignity and rights throughout the process.

The <u>Code of Ethics for the Physical Therapist</u> and its interpretive <u>Guide for Professional Conduct</u> are both well-known to all physical therapists. You can read the APTA Task Force revised Code of Ethics through the link below:

The Revised APTA Code of Ethics for the Physical Therapist and Standards of Ethical Conduct for the Physical Therapist Assistant: Theory, Purpose, Process, and Significance

Ethical Conduct – Earning the public's trust

The American Physical Therapy Association (APTA) is a great resource for physical therapists.

Responsible Conduct of Research

At GVSU, the <u>Responsible Conduct of Research (RCR)</u> refers to the shared principles of honesty, accuracy, efficiency and objectivity that guide research. The <u>Office of Research Compliance and Integrity (ORCI)</u> at GVSU is the entity that oversees compliance for RCR. In <u>PT 610</u> students are required to complete <u>CITI – RCR Training</u> which is a requirement of <u>GVSU Institutional Review Board (IRB)</u> for any student or faculty member to engage in research at this university. The CITI training modules provide the researcher important guidelines for ethical research and the responsibilities of the researcher to protect rights of all research participants.

Planning Your Research

The <u>IRB</u>, an entity of the ORCI, ensures that the basic rights and welfare of research participants are fostered and protected. The IRB supports researchers through its coordinated activities in education, regulatory compliance oversight, and post approval-monitoring. All research involving human subjects performed at GVSU by GVSU students, staff, or faculty must be reviewed and authorized by the IRB prior to the beginning of the research.

GVSU IRB Policies, Procedures & Guidance

- Policy on Ethical and Legal Principles
- Compliance with Applicable Laws and Regulations
- Informed Consent: General
- Informed Assent and Parental Permission

INTEGRITY IN PRACTICE

According to the <u>APTA Center for Integrity in Practice</u>, "the principles of altruism, excellence, caring, ethics, respect, communication, and accountability when working with other professionals are important for achieving optimal health and wellness in individuals and communities." The APTA Center for Integrity in Practice provides invaluable information including:

- <u>Upholding Integrity</u>
- Reducing Risk
- Best Practices

APTA Integrity in Physical Therapy Research

Preamble

The American Physical Therapy Association (APTA) and its physical therapist members are committed to encouraging and improving research in physical therapy. This commitment is grounded in the Association's Object and Functions, as set out in its Bylaws. The Association and the promoting professional ethics in physical therapy, and this commitment is grounded in the Code of Ethics which is binding on all physical therapist members of the APTA.

A concern for integrity in research follows quite naturally from the dual commitment to research and professional ethics. Integrity in research requires that the research be humane and both professionally and scientifically acceptable. Essentials to integrity in physical therapy research are certain considerations addressed in this document.

The number of physical therapists who design, conduct, and report, or otherwise engage in research is growing. Many of these physical therapists, as well as the students who are learning to research and their mentors, may not have ready access to guidance or advice on the consideration that are essential to integrity in physical therapy research.

This document was developed to satisfy that need.

The Association's Committee on Research consulted and reviewed several published and unpublished resources, including laws, regulations, consent forms, and guides, during the period 1981 to 1985 when the work on the document was done. The work was assisted by extensive written comments received in response to a first draft circulated in 1983, by oral comments received at a hearing on a second draft in 1984, and through a continuing exchange of ideas with the Association's Judicial Committee.

Purpose and Use

The statements in this document are offered as considerations for physical therapists that design, conduct, and report, or otherwise engage in research. Individual and collective attention to these considerations will help assure integrity in physical therapy research.

The statements are not to be considered inclusive of all the situations to which they might apply. Developments within and outside physical therapy, including societal trends and changes in law and regulation, will require that the statements be continuously reviewed and modified as warranted. Additional statements will be developed as needed to address situations not now addressed in this document.

No attempt was made to include or append detailed information from, or examples of, the materials which were reviewed in developing this document. The uses of and responses to this document will be reviewed to determine later the need for including or appending detailed information and examples.

The statements in this document are not intended to codify, explain, modify, or replace, in whole or in

part, any of the ethical principles in the Association's Code of Ethics of any of the interpretations in the Guide for Professional Conduct issued by the Association's Judicial Committee.

THE RIGHT, PRIVACY, AND WELL-BEING OF RESEARCHSUBJECTS

Rights of Subjects

Physical therapists (PTs) should ensure that the participation of human subjects in research is voluntary, free of coercion and deception, and based on an understanding by the subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, of the nature of the research and its expected benefits and risks.

- Legally effective informed consent should be obtained in writing from human subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, before the subjects participate in research.
- Human subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, should be assured in writing of the
 right to withdraw consent or to discontinue participation in research at any time without
 prejudice of any kind to the subjects.
- Human subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, should not be made to waive or appear to waive any of the subject's legal rights, or to release or appear to release the investigator, the sponsoring or funding agency, or the institution or any of its agents for liability for negligence.
- Human subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, should be informed as to whether
 any compensation or treatment is available to the subjects if any physical injury results from the
 research.

PTs should ensure that animal subjects used in research are treated humanely and, if sacrifice is necessary, are killed in a humane manner.

Confidentiality and Privacy

PTs should ensure that data and observations obtained on human subjects who participate in research are recorded, stored, and reported in ways that protect the individual and personal identity of the subjects.

- The information furnished to human subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, at the time that informed consent is obtained should include statement of the extent to which the confidentiality of data and observations on individual subjects will be maintained.
- In situations where patients participate as human subjects in research, consideration may be given to releasing data and observations which reveal the identity of individual subjects to specified persons for purposes of real or potential benefit to the subjects. The subjects, or their legally authorized representatives, should be informed of and consent to such release before any release is made.

• Signed release for the publication or exhibition, or other scientific or educational use, of photographic or other recorded images of human subjects from the subjects or their legally authorized representatives.

In situations where research procedures require the simultaneous presence of more than one human subject, or one or more groups of human subjects, PTs should ensure that the individual subjects have the maximum possible privacy during their participation.

Risk to Subjects

PTs should identify and reduce, as far as is possible, the risk of physical, psychological, or social harm to research subjects.

- Proposals of research requiring the application of experimental procedures or the imposition of
 experimental conditions should be submitted to institutional review boards or similar review
 bodies for independent assessment of the expected risk of physical, psychological, or social
 harm to research subjects.
- The use of experimental procedures or conditions should be suspended if research subjects incur physical, psychological, or social harm to an extent or in a form that exceeds or deviates from the expected risk of harm. A full report on the procedures that reconditions used, and the resultant harm observed, should be submitted for study by the appropriate review body. The use of the procedures or conditions should be resumed only if the appropriate review body approves the resumption.

Well-being of Subjects

PTs should always be guided by concern for the physical, psychological, and social well-being of research subjects.

Research conducted by PTs on live animals should be done only in facilities that comply with the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 9, Subchapter A – Animal Welfare, and that either are accredited by the American Association for Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care or have institutional committees which review animal facilities and practices for compliance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals, and that comply with pertinent local laws and regulations governing the housing, care, and feeding of animals.

OBSERVANCE OF THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING RESEARCH

Laws and Regulations

PTs who engage in research on human subjects who are patients should comply with the laws and regulations governing the practice of physical therapy in the jurisdiction in which the research is done on those subjects.

Institutional Requirements

PTs should comply with the requirements governing the approval and conduct of research within the institutional or organizational settings in which they engage in research. If there are no requirements governing the approval and conduct of research within the institutional or organizational setting, the PT should make every effort to assist in developing and implementing such requirements.

State Practice Acts

PTs must practice within the scope of physical therapy practice defined by these state licensure laws (physical therapy practice acts). The entire practice act, including accompanying rules, constitutes the law governing PT practice within a state.

Physical Therapy Practice Acts by State

Michigan Legislature: Public Health Code: Physical Therapy

The Federation of State Boards of Physical Therapy (FSBPT)

MAINTENANCE AND PROMOTION OF PROFESSIONAL AND SCIENTIFIC ACCEPTABILITY IN RESEARCH

Honesty

PTs should ensure that truthful statements and descriptions of the required information are contained in research proposals submitted to institutional review boards, funding agencies, and others for approval.

PTs should adhere to the purposes and methods of approved research projects.

 Deviations from the purposes and methods of approved research projects should be avoided except when made in accordance with the policies and procedures of the approving bodies or persons.

PTs should ensure that research reports provide truthful statements on the work done and the findings obtained in their research.

- The deliberate misrepresentation or falsification of results, the suppression of findings, and the presentation of another's work as one's own should be avoided.
- Every effort should be made to avoid the bias that can occur in the interpretation of research results when financial support of any kind, before, during, or after the research is done, is received by any party that may stand to gain financially from the results of the research.

Openness

• PTs should make every effort to report their research and research results to the appropriate professional or scientific community.

- PTs should make every effort to honor the requests of their professional and scientific colleagues for access to the data obtained in research. The purposes of such requests and the uses to which the data will be put should be mutually agreed in writing. The individual and personal identity of human subjects should be fully protected when access to data is provided.
- PTs should identify publicly any potential conflict of interest that might compromise, or might be perceived as compromising, the interpretation of their research and research results.

Credibility

- PTs should recognize that ensuring the credibility of research and research findings is an obligation to be assumed in exchange for the trust and cooperation of research subjects, the support of involved institutions and agencies, and the expected attention and consideration of the professional and scientific community.
- PTs should base their studies on a thorough knowledge and consideration of pertinent professional and scientific literature.
- PTs should make every effort to ensure the legitimate and logically correct choice or research design and data analysis, the avoidance of bias in selection or assignment of subjects, and the professionally skillful performance of appropriate treatment methods and reliable measurement procedures for their studies.
 - While designing their studies and preparing research protocols and proposals, PTs should seek the constructive criticism of their professional and scientific colleagues.
 - The advice of a competent consultant should be sought if there is any question or doubt about the choice of research design and data analysis for a study. This advice should extend to the presentation and interpretation of results when the study is completed.

Accuracy

PTs should make every effort to ensure that research reports contain description, findings, and references that are free from error.

Thoroughness

PTs should make every effort to ensure that research reports contain enough information to enable constructive criticism and replication of the research and to demonstrate absence of bias in the research. Written reports of research should contain brief descriptions of the steps taken to assure the protection of rights, confidentiality, privacy, and well-being of research subjects.

Acknowledgement

- PTs should publicly acknowledge, in the appropriate form, both the fact and the source of any financial support, consultation, or assistance received for research that is reported.
- PTs should publicly identify, in the appropriate form, the institutions or facilities where reported research was done and the affiliations of the authors of the research reports. The identities of

institutions, agencies, or organizations which serve as the objects of study should be confidential unless written authorized officials in those institutions, agencies, or organizations.

• When the acknowledgement of degrees held by authors of research reports is required or permitted, PTs should confine this acknowledgement to only their earned academic degree(s).

UNETHICAL, INCOMPETENT, OR ILLEGAL ACTS IN RESEARCH

Intervention

PTs should intervene directly in the conduct or reporting of research, for which they are responsible or in which they participate, to prevent or correct any acts that are unethical, incompetent, or illegal.

PTs should dissociate themselves from the conduct of any research or from the preparation of any research report in which unethical, incompetent, or illegal acts occur or may occur and have not been, or are unlikely to be, prevented or corrected by direct intervention.

Reporting

PTs should report to the appropriate institution or facility the facts regarding any acts in the conduct of research which appear to be unethical or illegal, or the facts regarding any acts in the conduct of research which appears to be incompetent and of actual or potential harm which exceeds or deviates from the expected risk of harm to research projects.

PTs should report to the appropriate institution or facility the facts regarding any published or oral report of research that appears to be fraudulent.

Investigation

PTs under investigation because of alleged unethical, incompetent, or illegal acts in the conduct or reporting of research should cooperate in the investigation and accept the investigation, without recrimination or reprisal, as part of the process of the search for the truth.

PTs appointed to investigate alleged unethical, incompetent, or illegal acts in objective in exercising judgement within the scope of the inquiry, should possess the special competencies necessary to understand the research in question, and should not be associated with the person or persons under investigation.

Criticism

PTs should comment critically, objectively, constructively, and openly on any reports of research which they consider to be professionally or scientifically unacceptable.

- Constructive criticism of research should be well founded and should include suggestions for enhancing the acceptability of the research.

PTs whose reports of research are criticized as representing research which is professionally or scientifically unacceptable should respond objectively to the criticism, and without recrimination or reprisal, as part of the process of the search for the truth.

American Physical Therapy Association, 1111 North Fairfax Street, Alexandria, VA 22314

THE LITERATURE REVIEW

The review of literature involves a comprehensive, critical examination of relevant research and theory in a specific content area. The literature review identifies what knowledge is accepted professionally, what is controversial, and what assumptions in the field remain yet unsubstantiated.

Literature reviews serve several functions (Portney and Watkins, 2009):

- To provide a source of research questions
- > To establish a theoretical base for study
- > To understand what research has already been performed
- > To provide a researcher with methods and instrumentation for study
- > To examine validity and reliability of instrumentation
- > To determine the potential for successful outcomes
- > To provide the basis for examining assumptions and establishing limitations of a study

Information on searching the literature for research study is available through the library. Guided tours and informational classes on computer searches are also available. It is your responsibility to investigate the appropriate processes/services needed to complete your research and class assignments. Researchers should be knowledgeable about copyright policies and U.S. law when accessing hard copy and electronic resources.

U.S. COPYRIGHT LAW

The Copyright Law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

COPYRIGHT LAW OF THE UNITED STATES

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the copy is not to be "used for any purpose other than provide study, scholarship, or research." If a user makes a request for, or later uses a photocopy or reproduction for purposes more than "fair use," that user may be liable for copyright infringement.

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copy order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of the copyright law.

Students must request permission to reproduce paragraphs, charts, graphs, tables, photographs, etc. to include in their research reports. Please direct your requests to the publisher of the article, journal or book. The library staff may be able to assist you with telephone numbers or addresses.

WRITING ABSTRACTS

The following link contains <u>American Physical Therapy Association</u> (APTA) instructions for writing abstracts for the journal <u>Physical Therapy</u>. It provides a detailed overview of what is involved in writing scientific abstracts.

The journal of the APTA and most medical journals are written in the writing style of the American Medical Association (AMA). Please consider this information when you write assignments for class, so you know which style your research mentor wants it written in, as well as which style would be most appropriate considering your content and the journal in which you may want to submit your research for publication.

Specific formatting guidelines for abstracts when submitting for publication are based on journal-specific requirements. Likewise, if an abstract is written for submission for conference presentation, specific guidelines are provided by supporting professional organization.

For abstracts of reports of research, the essential four parts to note are:

- 1. *purpose* of the study (why did the author do it?)
- 2. *method* used (how did the author design and carry out the procedures?)
- 3. results of the proceedings (what happened?)
- 4. *conclusions* of the author (what was learned by all this?)

The abstracter's job is to give a brief account of the important information in each of these sections. Additionally, for research articles it is not necessary to include at the beginning of the abstract a *statement of the problem* because the purpose usually defines the scope of the study.

One problem with writing abstracts on research articles occurs when the article to be abstracted is not put together properly. For example, if the author of the article did not clearly state his purpose, it is impossible to figure it out for the abstract. If any of these four sections is missing, look for another article to abstract.

For abstracts of all types of articles, it is essential to note the *purpose of the article*, the *pertinent data* related to the type of paper presented, the *important conclusions*, and the *clinical relevance* discussed by the author.

Tense: Always write the abstract in the *past* tense for reporting work done in the past. Using the present tense is not only grammatically incorrect but can cause confusion over what the original article stated. "The study results do not have clinical relevance" could be taken as the opinion of the abstracter rather than what was reported by the author. To clarify, use past tense and identify the maker of the statement: "The authors said they found no clinically relevant results."

Most abstracts report work that was done in the past, so it is logical to say, "the authors found" or "the results showed." However, some abstracts dealing with material such as theories and concepts, may need to include both *past* and *present* tenses, such as "the author stated he believes all men are created equal."

Content: The abstract should give the reader a good idea of what to find in the article, not an abbreviated version of all the information it contains. Include only pertinent data germane to the central point and stay within 150 to 300 words depending on journal type and/or conference submission. For the purposes of the DPT final written research manuscript and for DPT research day, abstracts should follow APTA Michigan guidelines (see Appendix I). Including too many facts results in an imbalanced description of the article and will probably make the abstract too long. The abstract must be able to stand alone as a digest of the significant information found in the article, but the abstract is not intended to substitute for the article.

Include only information reported by the author in the article. Do not use related information and facts that the article did not contain. Do not inject your own general information. Take any needed background information from the original article and identify it as such. For example, rather than "Hand surgery is risky," state "The authors emphasized that because hand surgery is risky, the patients must be..." Make certain you include only those conclusions or opinions presented by the author. Whether you agree with a study, the methods, or the validity of any of the results, the abstract must not reflect the opinions. Also indicate differences between the author's facts and opinions. For example, say either "The study showed the discrepancy resulted from..." or "The author believed the discrepancy resulted from..."

Clarity and Simplicity: Attempt to make the abstract understandable to as many people as possible, including PTs (researchers, therapists, assistants, and students), allied health professionals, and interested nonprofessionals. The key is to simplify. Examine three-syllable (and more) words closely. If a shorter word can say the same thing, use it. Here are some examples of swaps that work: "repeat" for replication, "use" for usage or utilization, and "many" formanifold.

When simplifying, however, avoid slang. Anatomical terms should be complete (quadriceps are "quadriceps femoris muscles"), disease processes should be exact (strokes are "cerebrovascular accidents"), and individuals usually should not be defined by their dysfunction (cystic fibrosis children are "children with cystic fibrosis").

Statistics and Abbreviations: One way to achieve clarity and simplicity is to include only essential statistics and abbreviations. Use statistics to register the significance of results, and only list key results. Use standard abbreviations. Use special abbreviations sparingly.

WRITING TIPS

If writing has been a problem for you, you may choose independent reading (see references) or writing assistance is available at the GVSU Fred Meijer Center for Writing and Michigan Authors, with writing center consultation sites at both the Allendale campus (Mary Idema Pew Library) and the DeVos campus (Steelcase Library), as well as the Student Study Center in CHS 100. The tutors can assist with anything from brainstorming and organizing through the final paper. All students are welcome to assistance with their assignments for any class.

Part II: RESEARCH DESIGN

RESEARCH OPTIONS AND SEQUENCE THE PHYSICAL THERAPY PROGRAM

All students are required to complete the research course sequence in the DPT curriculum, which includes PT 512, STA 610, PT 610, PT 790 (Winter and S/S), and PT 793. Timing of these courses in the curriculum and the research skills gained from these four courses are outlined in the box below. For the requirements of PT 790 and PT 793, students may select to engage in one of three research options:

Option 1: Research Project – student groups of three, with faculty mentor guidance, will participate in the planning, execution, analysis, and/or reporting of a research project. The aspects of the project a student group is required to complete is at the discretion of the faculty principal investigator. Not all projects will be started de novo and completed by a single student group. Some projects span several years and incorporate several student groups. However, regardless of which aspect of a project in which a student group is involved, each student group will be required to thoroughly review the literature and demonstrate a strong knowledge and understanding of the theoretical and empirical underpinnings of the project. All students will be required to complete a final written product and a final defense of the project, as well as disseminate the research findings at Annual DPT Research Day in July of their last semester of the DPT program.

Option 2: Case Report – Individual students choosing this option will follow the guidelines as described in research handbook. For the final defense the case report must be written in a journal-specific format, i.e., ready for submission. Students will receive guidance from their faculty (case report) mentor as to the selection of the most appropriate journal format. All students are required to disseminate case report in oral or poster presentation at Annual DPT Research Day in July of their last semester of the DPT program.

Option 3: Systematic Review – student groups of three, with faculty mentor guidance, will complete a systematic review of the literature to answer a specific research question. All students are required to disseminate systematic review findings in oral or poster presentation at Annual DPT Research Day in July of their last semester of the DPT program.

Sequence: YEAR 1

Fall	Winter	Spring/Summer
PT 512: Introduction to Health Professions Research (1 credit)		STA 610: Applied Statistics for Health Professions
Students learn how to critique and synthesize the literature in the form of concise literature reviews; in their other courses they should continue to refine their skills in writing abstracts (abstract writing activities will be continued throughout the rest of	Students are required to write several abstracts of current literature related to orthopedic physical therapy to introduce them to being consumers of the literature, learn scientific writing skills, etc.	Project-oriented overview of major statistical techniques commonly used in problems encountered in rehabilitation. Students will learn to use SPSS as a research tool for data analysis and graphical representation of research findings.

the curriculum). The concept of	
evidence-based practice will be	
reviewed with an emphasis on	
understanding the link between	
practice and clinical research.	
The PICO process will be	
introduced and used to learn how	
to ask and answer clinically	
relevant questions.	

Sequence: YEAR II		
Fall	Winter	Spring/Summer
PT 610: Research in Health Professions (2 credits)	PT 790: Physical Therapy Research I (1 credit)	PT 790: Physical Therapy Research I (1 credit)
All students learn all aspects of research design, including single case design, case report design, qualitative research, etc. Students will learn to critically review outlished research studies with varied research design, case reports and systematic review across clinical practice areas. Students electing to do a research project will begin to form their research groups, formulate research ideas in collaboration with faculty mentor and begin the process of working with a faculty mentor on faculty-directed project. Students will complete a systematic literature review. Students who elect a case report option will be required to do a preliminary case report as part of the January clinical rotation (PT 656) and will need to make some initial preparation for this as part of fall semester. The expected putcome for PT 610 will be a iterature review related to clinical questions that might be investigated during the January clinical rotation. Students electing to do a systematic review will form their work groups and begin to work	Student groups, who began to formulate research questions in the fall for a systematic review or research project will continue to refine and develop their proposal under the direction of their research mentor. Students participating in a research project already underway will complete the literature review and prepare to actively participate in the appropriate phase of the research project. Students electing the case option will have collected data during their second clinical rotation (January) and will be required to write a manuscript placed on the preliminary case report by the end of the term. Students electing the case report option will work in small groups, with faculty guidance, discussing cases and providing peer review.	Students who elected a systematic review or de novo research project will finish proposal, defend proposal, submit to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) (if appropriate) and begin data collection. Students participating in a research project already underway will defend their literature review and demonstrate knowledge and competence of all aspects of the project in which they will be participating. Students electing the case report option will orally present their preliminary case report to faculty and students. Following satisfactory completion of the case report (written and oral portions) students will formulate another clinical question, begin literature review, contact clinical sites in advance to identify possibilities for their final case, etc. Students will be encouraged to contact both clinical sites for potential cases that they will be interested in pursuing.

focused clinical research topic and	
literature review.	

Sequence: YEAR III

Sequence: 12/11/11		
Fall	Winter	Spring/Summer
	PT 793: Physical Therapy Research II (2 credits)	PT 793: Physical Therapy Research II
Students who elected a systematic review or research project will be in different stages of project development or data collection. Students who elected a case report will be collecting data, finalizing literature review and begin to write their manuscript. Students will need to be in close communication with their faculty advisor during this period.	Students who elected a systematic review or research project will finish data collection, complete the final written product and do a final oral defense. Students participating in a research project already underway will complete the project, final oral defense, and final written product. Students who are initiating a project that will be ongoing will complete a preliminary analysis of findings or appropriate written product as directed by the faculty principle investigator.	All students will prepare and deliver a platform or poster presentation during the GVSU DPT Research Day. All students will be encouraged to submit abstracts for platform or poster presentations to APTA Michigan for fall annual conference (see Appendix I for guidelines), or other state, regional, national conferences.
	Students who elected the case report option will write the manuscript in final journal-ready publication format and do a final oral defense.	

RESEARCH MATCHING PROCESS

Research engagement is a collaborative process between PT faculty members and students. Student research groups are matched with faculty research advisors during the Fall semester of their 2nd year. The process begins with an all-class meeting where students are provided an overview of the research process. Students are then provided a list and short description of each of the available research options. Students are encouraged to meet with faculty for additional details and to ask questions about any projects in which they are interested or about which they have questions. Students then rank order their interest for all projects. The Research Committee then uses an objective process for matching students to projects with a goal of maximizing highest ranks across all students. Generally, all students are matched to one of their top 5-7 ranked options.

RESEARCH PROCESS GUIDELINES

Research Project

(Note: the research project may be modified by faculty mentor if students picking up project already in process)

- By the end of the S/S semester of the second year, the student(s) complete the introduction, literature review, and methods.
- By the end of the spring/summer semester of the second year, the student(s) complete the written product, as well as first oral presentation (proposal defense) as required for **PT 790**.
- Faculty mentor, who is the primary investigator on the research project, along with the students will submit their proposal to GVSU IRB committee for review and approval under the appropriate level of review (Exempt, Expedited, Full Board Review). Once the study is approved by IRB then participant recruitment and data collection may begin. {NOTE: Research proposal must go through oral defense and research mentor/s approval, as well as IRB approval of study prior to beginning data collection.}
- During spring/summer semester of the second year, the student(s) begin (and sometimes complete) data collection and begin data analysis.
- By the end of the winter semester or spring/summer semester of the third year, the student(s) complete the data analysis, results, discussion, and conclusion; and then complete second oral presentation (called the "Final Defense") with final written product <u>as required for PT 793</u> (see <u>Appendix C</u>).

Case Report

- During **PT 656** in the winter semester of the second year, the student collects appropriate information and data for first case report.
- By the end of the spring/summer semester of the second year, the student completes the written and oral presentation of first case report as required for PT 790 (see Appendix C).
- During either **PT 675** or **PT 677** in the fall semester of the third year, the student collects appropriate information for second case report as well as completes a literature review to support the case report.
- By the end of the winter semester or spring/summer semester of the third year, the student completes the final written and oral presentation of second case report <u>as required for PT 793</u> (see <u>Appendix C</u>).

Systematic Review

- By the end of the winter semester of the second year, the student(s) make significant progress on or complete the introduction and literature background.
- By the end of the spring/summer semester of the second year, the student(s) complete the methods and the first oral presentation with written product as required for **PT790**.
- By the end of the winter semester or spring/summer semester of the third year, the student(s) complete the results, discussion, and conclusion; and then complete second oral presentation with final written product <u>as required for PT 793</u> (see <u>Appendix C</u>).

For All Three Options

- Students submit research project/case report/systematic review abstracts to the PT research committee by early June during the final semester of their third year.
- Student(s) disseminate research in the form of a professional presentation (platform or poster) at DPT Research Day in July (final semester).
- Refer to Appendix F for scholarship and funding opportunities for research activities and poster printing (PT Department policy).

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The research curriculum in the DPT program at GVSU provides students several options. The **systematic review** and **research project** options are faculty-led projects that are guided by the faculty mentor's knowledge, experience, and familiarity with the literature. While a single faculty member may lead a systematic review or research project, there may be a team of faculty members (within and external to the PT Department) and/or community clinicians who bring additional expertise to the research team. However, the primary/lead faculty mentor must be a faculty member in the PT Department.

The PT faculty will present the available research study, systematic review, and case study options to students during the fall of the second year. Students will then have an opportunity to form groups if necessary and explore available options. Students will then complete a bidding process whereby students and faculty are matched with one another. There are several important roles and responsibilities:

Student Responsibilities

- 1. Identify specific timelines by semester as described by programs.
- 2. Submit all drafts of written products to the primary faculty mentor for review (allow 10 days for review and feedback) and coordinate with collaborating faculty and clinicians as appropriate.
- 3. Schedule all research team meetings (time, room, equipment), allowing 10 days for feedback and ample time for corrections before scheduling proposal and final defense times/dates.
- 4. Following research proposal defense and approval from faculty research team, submit for approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) before collecting any data if appropriate.
- 5. Remember to ascertain approval requirements from external involved institutions.
- 6. Follow the schedule for completion of the systematic review, research project, or case report.
- 7. Plan minimum submission of three drafts and 10-day turn-around time for each submission when planning proposal defense, final defense and graduation.
- 8. Provide copies of final written product as approved by faculty research mentor to faculty mentor and research committee team members.

Faculty Mentor Responsibilities

For PT 790

- 1. Provide primary guidance to student in completion of proposal.
- 2. Facilitate selection of research team members if appropriate.
- 3. Clearly establish expectations of additional student roles and responsibilities specific to the

- systematic review, research project, or case study.
- 4. Clearly establish expectations for the oral and written products required for successful completion of **PT 790** and **PT 793**. This is especially important for ongoing research projects.
- 5. Provide primary guidance in completion of systematic review, research project, or case study.
- 6. Provide timely feedback to student(s) within 10 days of receiving a written draft.
- 7. Guide students' preparation for proposal defense or first case study public presentation.
- 8. Review and discuss authorship guidelines. See guidelines provided by the <u>Center for Creative and Scholarly Excellence (CSCE)</u> as early as possible in the proposal process.
- 9. Serve as primary investigator of record for all IRB submissions.
- 10. Use appropriate evaluation form for grading PT 790 (see Appendix C). For grading the written manuscript and oral defense when the proposal is complete (sometimes Winter PT 790, otherwise in S/S PT 790. If proposal not complete by the end of Winter PT 790, grade students using the Progress Grading Rubric. It is the chair's responsibility to distribute a copy of the grading criteria to faculty/clinician research team (if applicable) and students.
- 11. Submit research grade for PT 790 on GVSU Banner System.

For PT 793

- 1. Advertise the scheduled defense for a minimum of one (1) week before the defense date. Include the title of the project, names of the students, the time and location.
- 2. Guide students' preparation for final oral defense.
- 3. Facilitate discussion following oral presentation among research team/collaborators and students.
- 4. Facilitate discussion of students' evaluation, using the evaluation form provided in the research handbook for grading the written and oral defense (use Grading Criteria for **PT 793**). It is the chair's responsibility to distribute a copy of the grading criteria to the faculty/clinician research team (if applicable) and students.
- 5. Proofread and edit final manuscript for content and format changes prior to signing and allowing students to make final copies for distribution.
- 6. Provide timely feedback to student(s) within 10 days of receiving a written draft.
- 7. Provide guidance on DPT Research Day presentation and feedback on platform or poster presentation.
- 8. Submit final research grade for **PT 793** on GVSU Banner System and to PT Department chair as evidence of satisfactory completion of the DPT curricular research requirements.
- 9. Review and discuss authorship agreement for possible submission of abstracts to state and national professional meetings or journal submission.

Faculty/Clinician Research Team/Collaborator Responsibilities

- 1. Provide guidance to verbal questions as posed by student(s) related to concepts and/or methods, etc.
- 2. Provide feedback to student(s) within 10 days of receiving a request for input written drafts.
- 3. Participate in review the oral defense of the proposal and final paper and provide written feedback.
- 4. Participate in the evaluation of the proposal by attending the initial proposal approval meeting and final defense.

DESIGNING THE STUDY

PT 610, **STA 610**, and research text references (Portney and Watkins) should provide you with a basic background to design a research project.

In addition, GVSU faculty outside the PT Department, continue to show great enthusiasm for helping graduate students with research design, including statistics. However, while students will not be expected to perform complex statistical analysis, faculty expect students to take responsibility for the design of their project, to understand the statistical methods used and results obtained, and to be able to defend them.

Students should work as a collaborative team with their faculty mentor across all stages of the research design and data analysis process.

SUGGESTED READINGS

Quantitative Methodological References

Barlow, D.H. and Hersen, M. <u>Single Case Experimental Designs: Strategies for Studying Behavior Change</u>. 2nd ed. New York: Pergamon Press, 1984

Daniel, W.W. <u>Biostatistics:</u> <u>A Foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences</u>. 9th ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 2008

Domholdt, E. <u>Rehabilitation Research: Principles and Applications</u>. 3rd ed. St. Louis, MO: Elseveir Saunders; 2005

Hurley, W.L., Denegar, C.R.; and Hertel, J. <u>Research Methods: A Framework for Evidence-Based Clinical Practice</u>. Baltimore, MD: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins 2011

Johnson, M.V.; Ottenbacher, K.J.; and Reichardt, C.S. <u>Strong quasi-experimental designs for research on the effectiveness of rehabilitation</u>. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 1995; 74: 383-92

Keppel, G. and Wickens, R.D. <u>Design and Analysis: A Researchers' Handbook</u>. 4th ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 2004

Munro, B.H. <u>Statistical Methods for Health Care Research</u>. 4th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001

Portney, L.G. and Watkins, M.P. (eds): <u>Foundations for Clinical Research: Application to Practice</u>. 4th ed. 2009; Prentice Hall

Rothstein, J. and Echternach, J. (1993). <u>Primer on Measurement: An Introductory Guide to Measurement Issues</u>. Alexandria: APTA

Sackett, D.L. and Wennberg, J.E. <u>Choosing the best research design for each question</u>. BMJ 1997; 315: 1636

Qualitative Methodological References

Bogdan, R.C. and Biklen, S.K. (1992). <u>Qualitative Research for Education: An Introduction to Theory and Methods</u>. Boston: Allyn & Bacon

Creswell, J.H. <u>Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches</u>. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2003

Creswell, J.W. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design. Choosing Among Five Traditions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1998

Dengin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y. (1995) Handbook of Qualitative Research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage

DiCicco-Bloom, B. and Crabtree, B. <u>The qualitative research interview</u>. Medical Education. 2006; 40: 314-321

Henderson, R. and Rheault, W. <u>Appraising and incorporating qualitative research in evidence-based practice</u>. J Phys Ther Educ. 2004; 18;(3): 35-40

Hesse-Biber, S. and Leavy, P. (2011) <u>The practice of qualitative research</u>. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications

Hurley, W.L.; Denegar, C.R.; and Hertel, J. <u>Research Methods: A Framework for Evidence-Based Clinical Practice</u>. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins 2011, Baltimore, MD

Merriam, Sharon B. (1991). <u>Case Study Research in Education: A Qualitative Approach</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Sage

McDowell, I.; Newell, C. <u>Measuring Health: A Guide to Rating Scales and Questionnaires</u>. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 1996

Morgan, D.L. (Ed.). (1993). Successful Focus Groups. Newbury Park, CA: Sage

Starks, H; Trinidad, S.B. (2007). Choose your method: a comparison of phenomenology, discourse analysis, and grounded theory. Qualitative Health Research, 17, 1272

Yin, R.K. <u>Case Study Research: Design and Methods</u>. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1994

RESEARCH PROJECT PROPOSAL CONTENT - PT 790

See Portney and Watkins (2009), Chapter 32 for general information about the research proposal.

The format for the research project proposal is at the discretion of the faculty research advisor, but generally contains the information outlined below. The difference between a "chapter" format and "journal-ready" format is length and depth of information presented. The format preference of the research advisor will depend on the nature, phase, and dissemination objectives of the project.

The research proposal may include one or more of the following sections and headings:

Title Page

INTRODUCTION

- Background to Problem or context Problem Statement
- Purpose/Aims
- Significance of the Problem to your profession and/or the health care system
- *Hypothesis*/research questions/objectives or research questions

REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

- *Review of literature:* Evaluation and synthesis of the literature including strengths and weaknesses of existing literature and gaps or omissions.
- Reliability/Validity or trustworthiness of their specific procedures/tests or measurement procedures that relate directly to the investigation of this problem when:
 - 1) they are not widely used or accepted,
 - 2) their reliability and/or validity is in question and it may impact the data collection and analysis,
 - 3) the instrument is not widely used or accepted, or
 - 4) different tests or measurement techniques are available and the inter and intratester reliability and validity of each varies then the pros and cons of each need to be presented.
- Summary and Implications for the Study

METHODOLOGY

- *Study Design* and sequence of the investigation. Describe in detail. Indicate any problems that you anticipate and how you plan to deal with them. **Briefly** discuss the advantages of the methodology which you have selected.
- Study site and subjects include agency approval, description of, intended characteristics of the sample, including any inclusion and/or exclusion criteria. Any form used to assess inclusion and/or exclusion criteria should appear in the appendix. Describe the study site and facilities available for the study. Explain how subject confidentiality will be protected.
- *Population* Describe in detail the population and sample and the selection method.
- Equipment and Instruments All instruments and equipment used in the study need to be described in detail. Identify the measurement tools*, their origin, psychometric properties, and how they will be used in the study. Examples of questionnaire type instruments should be included as an appendix. Include a sample of all instruments used.
- Validity/Reliability of specific procedures/tests*.
- *Trustworthiness* is addressed here for qualitative research.

- Procedures Describe the data collection procedures including types of data to be collected:
 when, how, and by whom. Place copy (ies) of data collection forms in the appendix. Describe
 the intervention, if applicable. Provide details of protection of subjects and any potential
 hazards. Include a copy of the consent form and the exact description of instruction for subjects
 in the appendix.
- Data Analysis describe the plan for preparation and analysis of data.
- *Limitations* describe the limitations that you foresee arising from your study design, procedure, sample population, etc.

References

Appendices:

- 1. Informed Consent Form (if applicable)
- 2. Data Collection Forms, questionnaires, detailed apparatus description, inclusion and/or exclusion criteria forms, recruitment materials etc.
- 3. Proposal Summary for IRB Committee (if applicable)
- 4. Budget Summary (if appropriate)

*Measurement instruments and/or procedures/tests that are widely accepted and used and that have proven to be reliable and valid need only a brief comment with reference as to their intra and/or inter- tester reliability and validity and do not need to be discussed in Chapter 2. If one measurement instrument or piece of equipment was selected from among several possible alternatives your rationale should briefly be included. Various alternatives and their pros and cons should be described in Chapter 2.

FINAL RESEARCH PRODUCT-PT 793

See Portney and Watkins (2009), Chapter 33, for general information about reporting research results.

The format for the research project proposal is at the discretion of the faculty research advisor, but generally contains the information outlined below The difference between a "chapter" format and "journal-ready" format is length and depth of information presented. The format preference of the research advisor will depend on the nature, phase, and dissemination objectives of the project.

INTRODUCTION

- Background to Problem or context Problem Statement
- Purpose/Aims
- Significance of the Problem to your profession and/or the health care system

REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

- Review of literature: Evaluation and synthesis of the literature including strengths and weakness of existing literature and gaps or omissions.
- Reliability/Validity or trustworthiness of their specific procedures/tests or measurement procedures that relate directly to the investigation of this problem when:
 - 1) they are not widely used or accepted,
 - 2) their reliability and/or validity is in question and it may impact the data collection and analysis,
 - 3) the instrument is not widely used or accepted, or
 - 4) different tests or measurement techniques are available and the inter and intratester reliability and validity of each varies then the pros and cons of each need to be presented.
- Summary and Implications for the Study

METHODOLOGY

- *Study Design* and sequence of the investigation. Describe in detail. Indicate any problems that you anticipate and how you plan to deal with them. **Briefly** discuss the advantages of the methodology which you have selected.
- *Study site and subjects* include agency approval, description of, intended characteristics of the sample, including any inclusion and/or exclusion criteria. Any form used to assess inclusion and/or exclusion criteria should appear in the appendix. Describe the study site and facilities available for the study. Explain how subject confidentiality will be protected.
- Population Describe in detail the population and sample and the selection method.
- Equipment and Instruments All instruments and equipment used in the study need to be described in detail. Identify the measurement tools*, their origin, psychometric properties, and how they will be used in the study. Examples of questionnaire type instruments should be included as an appendix. Include a sample of all instruments used.
- *Validity/Reliability* of specific procedures/tests*.
- *Trustworthiness* is addressed here for qualitative research.
- Procedures Describe the data collection procedures including types of data to be collected:
 when, how, and by whom. Place copy (ies) of data collection forms in the appendix. Describe
 the intervention, if applicable. Provide details of protection of subjects and any potential hazards.
 Include a copy of the consent form and the exact description of instruction for subjects in the
 appendix.

- Data Analysis describe the plan for preparation and analysis of data.
- *Limitations* describe the limitations that you foresee arising from your study design, procedure, sample population, etc.

RESULTS/DATA ANALYSIS

- Characteristics of subjects*
 - o Report results under appropriate subheadings
 - o Other findings of interest
 - Results of statistical test to include relevant test statistics, p values, confidence intervals, etc.
 - o Reference tables and figures as appropriate.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

- Discussion of findings
 - o Restate purpose and/or hypothesis for readers benefit
 - Application of practice/administration/education
 - o Interpret results in light of previous research.
 - You should not simply restate results or introduce new results not presented in the results section.
 - o Limitations
 - o Suggestions for further research/modifications
 - o Conclusion/Summary include relevance to your profession

REFERENCES

TABLES AND FIGURES

- APPENDICES 1. Informed Consent Form (if applicable)
 - 2. Data Collection Forms, questionnaires, detailed apparatus description, inclusion and/or exclusion criteria forms, etc.

*Validity/Reliability: Measurement instruments and/or procedures/tests that are widely accepted and used and that have proven to be reliable and valid need only a brief comment with reference as to their intra and/or intratester reliability and validity and do not need to be discussed in Chapter 2. If one measurement instrument or piece of equipment was selected from among several possible alternatives your rationale should briefly be included. Various alternatives and their pros and cons should be described in Chapter 2.

*Placement of data related to subjects might be included in either Chapter 3 or 4. This should be determined in discussion with your committee. Generally, it is appropriate to include it in Chapter 3 unless the demographics are directly related to hypothesis testing, in which case they should be included in Chapter 4.

Final copies should delete future tense and go to past tense.

****The Physical Therapy department requires use of one of the following titles for your final written project on cover page with Title of project/SR/Case report and author's names: **Doctor of Physical Therapy Case Report**, **Doctor of Physical Therapy Systematic Review**, or **Doctor of Physical Therapy Research Project**. An electronic copy of projects should be submitted to department prior to graduation and may be used in the university repository of faculty and student work.

PROPOSAL APPROVAL PROCESS

The Approval Process involves an Oral Proposal Defense that consists of two parts: 1) a brief presentation of your study, and 2) questioning by your research mentor and collaborators.

Oral Presentation of Proposed Project

In the first part, the Approval Process provides you with the opportunity to orally summarize your research project for your committee. *This presentation must be scheduled when all research team members can attend.* You should prepare a 20 to 30-minute overview presentation of your project.

Defense/Questioning

In the second part, your research mentor will guide a session for questions that are intended to probe your comprehension of the material that you presented. The faculty and/or clinician research team will expect you to understand and explain all the aspects associated with your responsibility in the study.

Grading

There will likely be additional revisions to the final paper following the defense to ensure it is of enough quality prior to submission to research advisor and committee members. A grade for PT 793 will not be issued until the required revisions are completed following the final defense and the Final Written project is submitted to research advisor.

THE FINAL DEFENSE

The Final Defense process consists of two parts: 1) a brief presentation of your study, and 2) questioning by your committee.

Oral Presentation

In the first part, the Defense provides you with the opportunity to orally summarize your research project for your committee. *This Defense must be scheduled when faculty mentor and all research team members can attend.* You will be expected to provide a presentation (20 to 45-minutes, at the discretion of faculty mentor) of the project.

Questioning

In the second part, the research mentor and advisory team will guide a session for questions that are intended to probe your comprehension of the material that you presented. Student researchers will be

expected to understand and explain all the aspects associated with your responsibility in the study. You will also be asked to clarify specific points in the written text as needed and make recommendations for further research.

Grading

Your grade for the final defense phase (PT 793) will be based upon the oral presentation and the paper submitted at the time of the defense. See <u>Appendix C</u> for details about grading and the associated scoring rubrics. There will likely be additional revisions to the final paper following the defense to ensure it is of enough quality prior to submission to the library. A grade for PT 793 will not be issued until the required revisions are completed following the final defense and the Final Written project is submitted to research advisor. PT 793 is graded with a "pass", pass with distinction", or "fail".

PLEASE NOTE: For both the oral defense and final defense, students must schedule a time and location where the defense will take place when your research mentor feels your research project is ready to defend. Be sure that all research team members (faculty/clinicians) have a <u>minimum of one week</u> to read your research project before your defense date. Students are responsible for assembling the committee. All research team members must be able to attend the scheduled defense.

CHS classrooms or conference rooms: please contact the PT Department office coordinator, Katie Nader, 616-331-5700, naderka@gvsu.edu

PRESENTATION OF RESEARCH

Each year the graduating class presents their research, systematic review or case report to the GVSU and West Michigan community at the DPT Research Day. The purpose for this event is two-fold: (1) to provide a forum to acquaint the named audiences with the work being done by DPT students, and (2) to facilitate the student's ability to present a research project to a critical audience. We believe this will prepare the students to present at conferences and professional meetings. See Appendix H for guidelines on presentations.

GVSU DPT Research Day (required)

The DPT Research Day is held in July during the week after returning from the final clinical experience. Students present their work to their fellow students, faculty, and others from the GVSU and clinical community.

During these platform and poster presentations and any other subsequent presentation of your work, you should give due recognition to your faculty mentor (they should have authorship on the presentation. See the **PT Program Dissemination Policy** on the next page as well as guidelines posted on <u>Center for Creative and Scholarly Excellence (CSCE)</u> website. This will not only give recognition to our faculty and DPT program but also help raise the stature of our programs and the degree that you earned at GVSU.

For DPT Research Day Abstracts: Authorship order should be students' names first followed by faculty mentor(s) names.

If dissemination occurs outside of the research day presentation (at state or national level), the author order will be at the faculty mentor's discretion and will follow acceptable guidelines for authorship.

Students are encouraged and mentored by faculty mentor to submit their abstract of research project, systematic review or case report to APTA-MI for poster or platform presentation at the annual conference.

PREPARING FOR PUBLICATION

Students should strive for a quality in their work suitable for publication. The faculty encourage students to submit a summary of their work for publication for a variety of reasons:

- 1) one of the purposes of research is to address pertinent educational and clinical questions and share the answers with the rest of the world;
- 2) publication is the ultimate culmination of the effort put forth by the researcher(s); and
- 3) it could provide an avenue for faculty to collaborate with students on publications.

The first step in preparing to submit for publication is to select the most appropriate journal for your manuscript. Peer-reviewed journals should be considered first. The editor of a peer-reviewed journal will send your manuscript to one or two experts in the area you have researched. For sure, your submission will receive a critical review. Your first submission may even be rejected. But the comments you will receive should permit you to produce a superior product. You will always be encouraged to re-submit. Peer-reviewed journals generally publish the higher quality work. Next, you want a journal that tends to publish papers related to the type of research you have completed. For example, it would not make sense to submit a paper on clinical education issues to The Journal of Orthopedic and Sports Physical Therapy. Finally, you should consider a journal that would most likely publish a manuscript summarizing your research. In other words, be realistic about the journal you submit to.

After you have selected a journal for submission, you will need to tailor your manuscript according to the general editorial style adopted by that journal. For researchers in psychology, the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (APA Style) provides the guidelines for publication. Many other journals also use the APA format. Submissions to journals within the American Physical Therapy Association (including the section journals or quarterlies) must subscribe to the guidelines published by the American Medical Association (AMA Style). However, each journal will have a section titled "Instructions to Authors" which should be consulted for specific guidelines. Be sure to read the instructions carefully and follow them exactly.

By now you have all had numerous opportunities to read and review journal articles. Essentially, your proposed journal manuscripts will be a scaled-down version of your final written product submitted for **PT 793**. Journal articles, preceded by an abstract, include an introduction and purpose, followed by a brief review of the literature, description of methods, results, and a discussion and conclusion section. Yes, it would entail another re-write, but all the hard work has already been done and your faculty mentor may offer to assist you at this stage.

The process, as you know, is long, but the outcome will be worth the effort.

PHYSICAL THERAPY PROGRAM DISSEMINATION POLICY

Research activity and other scholarly work is expected of faculty in the College of Health Professions at GVSU. Faculty members are expected to responsibly conduct their activities with the highest degree of integrity. Professional competence and expertise, as well as decisions regarding contract renewal, salary, tenure, and promotion, are partially based on scholarly/research productivity and subsequent publication of scholarly work. Scholarly activity may be pursued independently or in collaboration with peers and/or students. In collaborative research endeavors, authorship credit and order are important matters.

I. Data Ownership

Since individual DPT faculty members generate the original research question and guide the research process, ownership and storage of research data will be the responsibility of the DPT faculty member who is chair of the research project – since, that project is his/her intellectual property. This is especially true in instances where IRB approval was obtained with the faculty mentor as the principal investigator. Exceptions to this policy may especially occur when the final product is a systematic review or case report, where the students may have generated the specific idea for the research inquiry. In all instances, exceptions to the general guideline can be requested and approved on an individual basis and in consultation with the IRB when appropriate.

II. Authorship

In making authorship decisions, faculty, colleagues, and students should consider the following steps:

- 1. Early in the collaborative effort, colleagues discuss how authorship decisions are made, the nature of professional contributions to professional publications, the meaning of authorship credit and order, and the importance of parties agreeing on what contributions will be expected of each collaborator for a given level of authorship credit.
- 2. Collaborators should assess the abilities of all parties, the tasks required to complete the scholarly publication, the extent of supervision required (if appropriate), and appropriate expectations for what each collaborator can reasonably contribute to the project.
- 3. Based on #2, parties should discuss and agree on what tasks, contributions, and efforts are required of all parties to warrant authorship and to determine the order of authorship. An arbitrator may be sought if parties are unable to agree.
- 4. Agreements regarding authorship credit and order may need to be renegotiated prior to final manuscript submission. As faculty mentor and/or primary investigator, faculty are responsible for initiating this dialogue among collaborators and exercising their judgment regarding whether graduate student collaborators meet the expectations of significant contributions to the project to warrant authorship.
- 5. The order of authors' names on a publication or presentation should reflect the relative strength of their contributions to the project. If there were equal contributions names should be listed alphabetically (the rationale for this should be stated so in a footnote; for student research projects the footnote will be placed on the acknowledgment page of the final manuscript).

The policy of the College of Health Professions regarding authorship will follow what was published by the <u>International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE)</u> (*JAMA*, 1997;277:927-934), and used by the Editorial Office of *Physical Therapy*:

All people listed as authors should have participated sufficiently in the work to take public responsibility for the content. Authorship credit should be based on substantial contributions to: (1) conception and design, or analysis and interpretation of data; (2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content; and on (3) final approval of the version to be published. Conditions (1), (2), and (3) must **all** be met.

In the event of differences in opinion regarding authorship or dissemination, the graduate students can appeal to the Physical Therapy Research Committee for further review on this decision.

With regards to collaborative efforts that do not meet the above criteria, acknowledgment may be appropriate when the following activities occur:

- 1. Providing an initial research idea without any of the subsequent development of the project.
- 2. Provision of technical support for the project such as typing, data collection, data entry, construction of devices designed by someone else, etc.
- 3. Provision of resources such as space, money, equipment or supplies.
- 4. Having supervisory responsibility over an investigator who is an employee or student.

III. Dissemination

The faculty mentor of scholarly project, where graduate students are engaged as collaborators, has the primary responsibility to initiate dialogue and facilitate consensus with the collaborators regarding dissemination decisions of scholarly work (e.g. target conference or journal).

The faculty should explicitly discuss time frame for scholarly work dissemination. If students chose not to stay engaged in the scholarly writing for manuscript publication or dissemination for more than a year after completion of the DPT program requirements, then the faculty research mentor has the full ownership to publish as primary author and can determine appropriateness of whether students or graduates meet requirements for authorship as secondary authors.

The DPT program adheres to <u>University Policy 4.1.10.2</u> **Rights in published material, invention and secret processes**

APPENDIX A | Human Subjects Review

INTRODUCTION

Many of you will be undertaking research studies involving the use of human subjects. This entails several requirements of you as a researcher:

To become familiar with institutional policies regarding research involving human subjects. See the following link: https://www.gvsu.edu/irb/

- 1. Any human subjects research project conducted by GVSU students or faculty, including research, is required to be reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at GVSU. IRB approval is required prior to any subject recruitment or data collection.
- 2. All researchers (students and mentoring faculty) must demonstrate competency in the CITI (Responsible Conduct of Research (RCR) and Human Subjects Research (HSR) courses: IRB Training Requirements. More details will be given in **PT 610**. Written documentation of competency for all researchers involved in the project is required for new protocol submissions.
- 3. Access and submit all the required forms and documentation regarding the research project using the Office of Research Compliance and Integrity's (ORCI's) electronic database management system (IRB Manager). Instructions to access and use this system can be found on the IRB website. Students are *strongly advised* to use this website on an on-going basis to access the most recent forms and explanations regarding project submission for approval; such use will minimize delays and better ensure efficiency and timeliness in the approval process.
- 4. New protocol submissions should clearly outline your qualifications as a GVSU student to conduct human subjects research. Suggested language is as follows "The added_______(research assistant/graduate student, etc.) is currently a student is the______program. The student has completed the required IRB training in HSR and RCR (CITI certificates attached). The PI of the study will provide orientation to the ______(research assistant/graduate student, etc.) on the protocol, emphasizing the principles of RCR"
 It is also helpful to outline your responsibilities in the Study Personnel section. If the PI is required to be physically present during the interaction with a research participant, it should be stated (e.g. The PI will be physically present during all human subject interactions.)

NOTE: While GVSU IRB approval is not required for case reports, you must follow the guidelines for completion of forms for case report option in <u>Appendix D</u> to meet CHP requirements for informed consent process.

For systematic review options, IRB human subject review and approval process is not required.

MANDATE OF THE COMMITTEE

A. Nuremberg Code⁸

1. The voluntary consent of the human subject is absolutely essential. This means that the person involved should have legal capacity to give consent; should be able to exercise free power of choice, without the intervention of any element of force, fraud, deceit, duress, overreaching, or other ulterior form of constraint or coercion: and should have sufficient knowledge and comprehension of the elements of the subject matter involved as to enable him to make an understanding and enlightened decision. This latter element requires that before the acceptance of an affirmative decision by the experimental subject there should be made known to him the mature, duration, and purpose of the experiment; the method and means by which it is to be conducted; the method hazards reasonably to be expected; and the effects upon his health or person which may possibly come from his participation in the experiment.

The duty and the responsibility for ascertaining the quality of the consent rests upon each individual who initiates, directs or engages in the experiment. It is a personal duty and responsibility which may not be delegated to another with impunity.

- 2. The research project must be good science and benefit either the subject or the general health and wellness of society.
- 3. The experiment should be so designed and based on the results of animal experimentation and a knowledge of the natural history of the disease or other problem under study that the anticipated results will justify the performance of the experiment.
- 4. The experiment should be so conducted as to avoid all unnecessary physical and mental suffering and injury.
- 5. No experiment should be so conducted where in a <u>priori</u> reason, to believe that death or disabling injury will occur; except, perhaps, in those experiments where the experimental physicians also serve as subjects.
- 6. The degree of risk to be taken should never exceed that determined by the humanitarian importance of the problem to be solved be the experiment.
- 7. Proper preparation should be made, and adequate facilities provided to protect the experimental subject against even remote possibilities of injury, disability, or death.
- 8. The experiment should be conducted only by scientifically qualified persons. The highest degree of skill and care should be required through all stages of the experiment of those who conduct or engage in the experiment.
- 9. During the course of the experiment, the human subject should be at liberty to withdraw at any time without penalty, unless withdrawal would pose a risk to subjects.

10. During the course of the experiment the scientist in charge must be prepared to terminate the experiment at any stage, if he has probable cause to believe, in the exercise of the good faith, superior skill and careful judgment required of him that a continuation of the experiment is likely to result in injury, disability, or death to the experimental subject.

⁸Trials of war criminals before the Nuremberg Military Tribunals under Control Council No. 10, The medical Case 181 (U.S. Government Printing Office, 1949)

APPLICATION CATEGORIES FOR HUMAN SUBJECTS REVIEW

There are three categories – exempt, expedited, and full board – for review of research projects by the IRB. Explanations and criteria necessary to meet each level can be found on the IRB website at http://www.gvsu.edu/irb.

- 1. Projects meeting criteria for exempt review are reviewed for approval by the ORCIand/or IRB Chair on an on-going basis.
- 2. Projects meeting criteria for expedited review are reviewed by the Chair, plus two members of the Committee, on an on-going basis.
- 3. Projects requiring Full Board Review are reviewed by the entire membership of the IRB at a convened meeting (once a month). Projects requiring review in this category must arrive before the deadline for that meeting's agenda and the IRB may elect to review required changes to a project submission at subsequent monthly meetings. {Refer to IRB website for monthly meeting dates and submission deadlines}
- 4. The federal government definitions and explanations of criteria for all review levels can be found on the <u>IRB website</u>.

EXEMPT CATEGORY CRITERIA

(These proposals still must be submitted to and approved by the Institutional Review Board).

- (a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) below, this subpart applies to all research involving human subjects conducted by the Department of Health and Human Services or funded in whole or in part by a department grant, contract, cooperative agreement or fellowship.
- (b) Research activities in which the only involvement of human subjects will be in one or more of the following categories are exempt from these regulations unless the research is covered by other subparts of this part:
- (1) Research conducted in established or commonly accepted educational settings, involving normal educational practices that are not likely to adversely impact students' opportunity to learn required educational content or the assessment of educators who provide instruction. This includes most research on regular and special education instructional strategies and research on the effectiveness of or the comparison among instructional techniques, curricula, or classroom management methods.
- (2) Research that only includes interactions involving the use of educational tests (cognitive,

diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording), if at least one of the following criteria are met: (i) information obtained is recorded in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects; ii) any disclosure of the subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation; or (iii) the information is recorded in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to ensure adequate provisions are in place to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain confidentiality of data.

- (3) Research involving benign behavioral interventions in conjunction with the collection of information from an adult subject through verbal or written responses (including data entry) or audiovisual recording if the subject prospectively agrees to the intervention and information collected, if at least one of the following criteria are met: (i) information obtained is recorded in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects; (ii) any disclosure of the subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation; or (iii) the information is recorded in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to ensure adequate provisions are in place to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain confidentiality of data.
- (4) Secondary research for which consent is not required are uses of identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens, if at least one of the following criteria is met: (i) the identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens are publicly available; (ii) information, which may include information about biospecimens, is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, the investigator does not contact the subjects, and the investigator will not re-identify the subjects; (iii) the research involves only information collection and analysis when use of the data is regulated under HIPAA for the purposes of "health care operations," "research," or "public health activities and purposes;" or (iv) research is conducted by, or on behalf of, a Federal department or agency using government-generated or government-collected information obtained for non-research purposes.

SOURCE: Federal Register, Vol. 82, No. 12 (January 19, 2017), p.7261.

EXPEDITED CATEGORY CRITERIA

Applicability

(A) Research activities that (a) present no more than minimal risk to human subjects, and (2) involve only procedures listed in one or more of the following categories, may be reviewed by the IRB through the expedited review procedure authorized by 45 CFR 46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110. The activities listed should not be deemed to be of minimal risk simply because they are included on this list. Inclusion on this list merely means that the activities is eligible for review through the

- expedited review procedure when the specific circumstances of the proposed research involve no more than minimal risk to human subjects.
- (B) The categories in this list apply regardless of the age of subjects, except as noted.
- (C) The expedited review procedure may not be used where identification of the subjects and/or their responses would reasonably place them at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, insurability, reputation, or be stigmatizing, unless reasonable and appropriate protections will be implemented so that risks related to invasion of privacy and a breach of confidentiality are no greater than minimal.
- (D) The expedited review procedure may not be used for classified research involving human subjects.
- (E) Researchers are reminded that the standard requirements for informed consent (or its waiver, alteration, or exception) apply regardless of the type of review–expedited or convened—utilized by the IRB.
- (F) Research categories (below) one (1) through seven (7) pertain to both initial and continuing IRB review.

Research categories

- (1) Clinical studies of drugs and medical devices only when condition (a) or (b) is met.
 - (a) Research on drugs for which an investigational new drug application (21 CFR Part 312) is not required. (Note: Research on marketed drugs that significantly increases the risks or decreases the acceptability of the risks associated with the use of the product is not eligible for expedited review.)
 - (b) Research on medical devices for which (i) an investigational device exemption application (21 CFR Part 812) is not required; or (ii) the medical device is cleared/approved for marketing and the medical device is being used in accordance with its cleared/approved labeling.
- (2) Collection of blood samples by finger stick, heel stick, ear stick, or venipuncture as follows:
 - (a) From healthy, nonpregnant adults who weight at least 110 pounds. For these subjects, the amounts drawn may not exceed 550 ml in an 8-week period and collection may not occur more frequently than 2 times per week; or
 - (b) From other adults and children, considering the age, weight, and health of the subjects, the collection procedure, the amount of blood to be collected, and the frequency with which it will be collected. For these subjects, the amount drawn may not exceed the lesser of 50 ml or 3 ml or 3 ml per kg in an 8-week period and collection may not occur more frequently than 2 times per week.
- (3) Prospective collection of biological specimens for research purposes by noninvasive means. Examples: (a) hair and nail clippings in a non-disfiguring manner; (b) deciduous teeth at time of exfoliation or if routine patient care indicates a need for extraction; (c) permanent teeth if routine

patient care indicates a need for extraction: (d) excreta and external secretions (including sweat); (e) uncannulated saliva collected either in an unstimulated fashion or stimulated by chewing gumbase or wax or by applying a dilute citric solution to the tongue; (f) placenta removed at delivery; (g) amniotic fluid obtained at the time of rupture of the membrane prior to or during labor; (h) supra-and subgingival dental plaque and calculus, provided the collection procedure is not more invasive than routine prophylactic scaling of the teeth and the process is accomplished in accordance with accepted prophylactic techniques; (i) mucosal and skin cells collected by buccal scraping or swab, skin swab, or mouth washings; (j) sputum collected after saline mist nebulization.

- (4) Collection of data through noninvasive procedures (not involving general anesthesia or sedation) routinely employed in clinical practice, excluding procedures involving x-rays or microwaves. Where medical devices are employed, they must be cleared/approved for marketing. (Studies intended to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of the medical device are not generally eligible for expedited review, including studies of cleared medical devices for new indications.) Examples:

 (a) physical sensors that are applied either to the surface of the body or at a distance and do not involve input of significant amounts of energy into the subject or an invasion of the subject's primacy: (b) weighing or testing sensory acuity; (c) magnetic resonance imaging; (d) electrocardiography, electroencephalography, thermography, detection of naturally occurring radioactivity, electroretinography, ultrasound, diagnostic infrared imaging, doppler blood flow, and echocardiography; (e) moderate exercise, muscular strength testing, body composition assessment, and flexibility testing where appropriate given the age, weight, and health of the individual.
- (5) Research involving materials (data, documents, records, or specimens) that have been collected or will be collected solely for non-research purposes (such as medical treatment or diagnosis). (NOTE: Some research in this category maybe exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human subjects. 45 CFR 46.101(b)(4). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.)
- (6) Research involving materials (data, documents, records, or specimens) that have been collected or will be collected solely for non-research purposes (such as medical treatment or diagnosis). (NOTE: Some research in this category maybe exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human subjects. 45 CFR 46.101(b)(4). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.
- (7) Collection of data from voice, video, digital, or image recordings made for research purposes.
- (8) Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identify, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies. (NOTE: Some research in this category may be exempt from the HHS regulations for the protection of human subjects 45 CFR 46.101(b)(2) and (b)(3). This listing refers only to research that is not exempt.)
- (9) Continuing review of research previously approved by the convened IRB as follows:
 - (a) where (i) the research is permanently closed to the enrollment of new subjects: (ii) all subjects have completed all research-related interventions; and (iii) the research remains active only for long-term follow-up of subjects; or

- (b) where no subjects have been enrolled and no additional risks have been identified; or
- (c) where the remaining research activities are limited to data analysis continuing review of research, not conducted under an investigational new drug application or investigational device exemption where categories two (2) through eight (8) do not apply but the IRB has determined and documented at a convened meeting that the research involved no greater than minimal risk and no additional risks have been identified. Dated: November 1998

An expedited review procedure consists of a review of research involving human subjects by the IRB chairperson or by one or more experienced reviewers designated by the chairperson from among members of the IRB in accordance with the requirements set forth in 45 CFR 46.110. 2 Children are defined in the HHS regulations as —persons who have not attained the legal age for consent to treatments or procedures involved in the research, under the applicable law of the jurisdiction in which the research will be conducted. 45 CFR 46.402(a).

Researchers and/or their faculty mentors are encouraged to contact CHP Associate Dean of Research, Dr. Theresa Bacon-Baguley and/or GVSU IRB Chair regarding any questions about which category to submit their research study for IRB review.

All research submissions for new protocols to GVSU IRB must first be reviewed and approved by CHP Associate Dean of Research (in addition to your DPT faculty mentor/collaborator).

INFORMED CONSENT

The informed consent form is prepared by the investigator to suit the research design. The title of the project is entered at the top of page followed by a brief explanation of the study. A copy of this included with the proposal when presented for approval to the Institutional Review Board (IRB).

The basic elements of information necessary to such consent includes:

- 1. Name of principal investigator.
- 2. A statement that the study involves research and an explanation of the purposes of the research.
- 3. A fair explanation of the procedure to be followed and their purpose, including identification of any procedures which are experimental, and expected duration of involvement.
- 4. A description of any attendant discomforts and risks reasonably to be expected.
- 5. A description of any benefits reasonably expected.
- 6. A disclosure of any appropriate alternative procedures that might be advantageous to the subject.
- 7. An offer to answer any inquiries concerning the procedure.
- 8. An instruction that the person is free to withdraw his consent and to discontinue participation

in the project at any time without prejudice to the subject.

9. Informed consent should be written in ordinary language not exceeding 8th grade reading level.

Refer to the <u>IRB website</u> for further instructions and specific guidelines for consent forms and submission process.

Once the research proposal is approved by the IRB, researchers are expected to notify the IRB of any proposed changes to methods and any unforeseen risks or adverse events.

APPENDIX B Other Forms



RESEARCH PROJECT CONTRACT

Ι,	, having read Part II of the Research Handbook and the
corresponding Appendices, do agree the	hat I will be an active participant in the completion of the total
project as required to complete PT 79	0 and PT 793. I further recognize that the final grade for such a
project is dependent upon total cooper	ration among the team members and their combined equal efforts.
If at any time, during the develop	oment and completion of this project, it is determined by my
fellow team member(s) and my resea	arch mentor, that my contribution is less than agreed to, I
understand that I will be called upon to	o make a formal explanation. My research mentor and the project
team will review this explanation.	
It is understood that such a review	w will determine my ability to continue with the project. Should
it be determined that it is not appropri	ate for me to continue, I realize that I will have to initiate and
complete another acceptable research	activity to complete the requirement for the degree.
Please sign below:	
•	
Student	Date
Faculty Research Mentor	 Date



STANDARD RELEASE FORM

I,	, hereby give permission to the Grand Valley State
University, Physical	, hereby give permission to the Grand Valley State sical Therapy Program:
1).	To utilize photographs, films, video or audio taped segments of self for educational
purposes.	To united prioregraphs, rando of united impositions of control continuents
2)	To copy or reproduce the following material(s) for educational purposes by faculty and/or
students within	
3).	·
Date:	Signature:
Date	Signature.
	Name Printed:
	Institution/Agency:
	Address:
	Address:
	City:
	State:Zip:
Witness:	
., 1011000.	
Date:	

APPENDIX C | Grading Criteria

GRADING CRITERIA PT 790: Research Project Proposal Progress

St	udent(s):							<i>SE</i>	EMESTER/YEAR:	_
	nis grading rubric mpletion of the W					ects tha	t were not able	e to have	e a fully developed proposal by th	e
	dicate achievemer pectations and tim		eria by	circling	g the ap	propria	te rating on the	e scale b	pelow with regard to agreed upon	
1.	Literature review Fully met	v 5	4	3	2	1	Not met	N/A		
2.	Development of Fully met	a proble	em state	ement 3	2	1	Not met	N/A		
3.	Development of Fully met	researcl	n questi 4	on(s)	2	1	Not met	N/A		
4.	Formulation of h Fully met	ypothes 5	sis(es)	3	2	1	Not met	N/A		
5.	Development of Fully met	protoco 5	1 4	3	2	1	Not met	N/A		
6.	Identification of Fully met	sample 5	and rela	ated inc	lusion/e	exclusio	n criteria Not met	N/A		
7.	Identification of Fully met	variable 5	es to be	measur 3	ed/colle	ected 1	Not met	N/A		
8.	Identification of Ful	statistic	al analy 5	vsis(es)	to be ut	ilized 2	1 No	t met	N/A	
9.	Other tasks as as Fully met	signed/a	agreed 1 4	upon:	2	1	Not met			
<u>C</u>	omments:									
RI	ESEARCH PROP	OSAL 1	DEVEI	LOPME	NT PR	OGRES	SS GRADE: _			
Si	gnature of Facul	ty Men	tor			44	_	Dat	te	

GRADING CRITERIA PT 790: Research Project Proposal

Stu	ıdent(s):						SEMESTER/YEAR:
					-		te indicator on the scale below. The written paper et on which the scoring is based.
In	troduction (10%)		_				
1.	Problem is clearly	y stated	1				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Significance of p	roblem	is clea	ar			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Purpose of study	is clea	rly state	e			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
Lit	terature Review ((25%)					
1.	All relevant topic	e areas	are pre	sented			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Research reports to other studies, r	-	_			vas stud	ied, on whom, how studied, results, relationship
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Literature review	is sum	ımarize	ed with i	implicat	ions for	proposed study
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Research question	ns and l	hypothe	esis(es) a	are clear	rly state	d
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5	Important torms	oro dof	inad				
3.	Important terms a Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
М	ethodology (25%)	`					
			1 1	1			
1.	Research design i				•		NT .
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Research design i	s appro	priate	to solut	ion of p	roblem	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Research design i	s free o	of spec	ific wea	knesses		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Population and sa	ample a	are desc	cribed			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met

5.	Method of sampl	ing is a	ppropr	iate				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
6.	Instruments used	are des	cribed					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
7.	Validity and relia qualitative studie	-					ment instrumentation or trustworthiness in intained	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
8.	Data-gathering m	ethods	or proc	edures	are desc	ribed		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
9.	Data-gathering m	ethods	or proc	edures	are appr	opriate	to solution of problem	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
10.	Limitations of de	sign an	d meth	od are	discussed	1		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
11.	Appropriate form etc.	s are in	cluded	, i.e., ir	nformed	consen	t, instructions to subjects, data collection for	rms
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
12.	Plan for data ana	lysis is	presen	ted				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
13.	Data analysis pla	n is ap	propria	te				
	Fully met		4	3	2	1	Not met	
Sty	<u>le</u> (15%)							
	_ , ,	(inclu	ding sp	elling,	punctua	tion, co	onstant tense, word choice, etc.)	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
2.	Thoughts are pre	sented	clearly	and pr	ogress lo	ogically	y with appropriate transitions	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Style used is con	sistent	with th	e Scho	ol of He	alth Pr	ofessions and APA/AMA Manuals	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	Reference are cit	ed corr	ectly					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
5.	Recommended re	evision	s were	made ii	n a timel	ly manı	ner	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	

<u>Or:</u>	<u>al Defense</u> (10%))						
	Summarized res		ypothe	sis(es) c	or questi	ion(s)		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
2.	Summarized pre	vious 1	research	reporte	ed in the	literati	ure	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Summarized me	thodol	ogy and	analysi	is used			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	Summarized res	earch 1	imitatio	n				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
5.	Demonstrated un	ndersta	nding a	nd synt	hesis of	previo	us literature relative to students' resear	ch
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
6.	Defended metho	odology	and an	alytic a	pproacl	or stat	tistics utilized	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Ac	tive participatio	n and	adhere	nce to c	ontract	t (if anı	plicable) and deadlines (15%)	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Co	mments:							
RE	SEARCH PROP	OSAL	GRAD	E:				
Sic	gnature of Facul	ty Mor	itor				Date	
Sig	gnature or r'acur	ty with	1101				Date	

GRADING CRITERIA PT 793: Research Project- Chapter Format

Stı	udent(s):				SEMESTER/YEAR:							
to			_		•		ass the following criteria that indicate the ability ect of the research project and its implications					
							te indicator on the scale below. The written paper on which the scoring is based.					
In	nplementation (1	0%)										
	Data gathering r	nethods					orrectly, i.e. appropriate to the question					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
2	Validity and rel	iahility	of the s	elected	instrum	ents and	data were identified					
۷.	Fully met	•		3	2	1	Not met					
	,											
3.	Methods utilized											
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
1	Committee men	nhere w	zere utili	zed eff	ectively	and ann	propriately.					
т.	Fully met				2	1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
	·											
	<u>ritten Thesis</u> (35			. 1 1	1 .		1					
1.	Results of analy Fully met						Not met					
	runy met	3	4	3	2	1	Not filet					
2.	Tables and figur	res were	e used e	ffective	ly to en	hance p	resentation of results					
	Fully met				2	1	Not met					
ъ.												
	Interpretation of			WOO O O O	ımata							
1.	Interpretation of Fully met	data ar	iaiysis v	vas acci	irate 2	1	Not met					
	Tully lifet	3	7	3	2	1	Not met					
2.	Discussion/conc	lusions	related	to conc	eptual fr	amewo	rk and research question(s)					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
3.	Discussion was on in review of the	-		n-depth	; finding	gs of stu	dy were related to previous research as presented					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
4.	Conclusions wer				dence pr	esented						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					

5.	Generalizations v Fully met	vere con	offined to 4	the pop	pulation 2	from v	which the sample was drawn Not met
6.	Implications for f Fully met	further r		were di	scussed 2		sed on outcomes of the study Not met
	Tuny met	3	7	3	2	1	Not lifet
7.	Implications and Fully met	signific 5	ance of 4	research 3	n finding 2	gs for th 1	ne profession were clearly discussed Not met
Stv	<u>yle</u> (10%)						
	_ ` /	was use	ed (inclu 4	ading sp 3	pelling, 2	punctua 1	ntion, tense, word choice) Not met
2.	Thoughts were cl Fully met	early pr	esented 4	and pro	ogressed 2	l logica 1	lly with appropriate transitions Not met
	runy met	3	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Style used was co	onsisten	t with S	chool o	f Health	Profes	ssions and APA/AMA requirements
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4	References were	correct1	v cited				
т.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5	Tone of the repor	t dienla	wad a na	autral at	tituda		
J.	Fully met	5		3	2	1	Not met
6	Pacommanded re	wicione	wara m	ada in c	timaly	manna	r without repeated feedback
0.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
Or	al Defense						
	ral Presentation (2						
1.	Evidence of preparation						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Summarized rese	arch qu	estions				
	Fully met			3	2	1	Not met
3.	Summarized prev	ious res	search r	eported	in the li	iteratur	e
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Summarized met	hodolog	v and a	nalvsis			
••	Fully met	5	•	3	2	1	Not met
_	·						
5.			1	2	2	1	Not mot
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met

6.	Summarized res							
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
7.	Stated conclusion	ns, im	plication	ıs, appl	ications	and di	rection for future resear	rch
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
8.	Summarized res	earch l	limitatio	ns				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
De	fense - i.e., abilit	tv to a	nswer a	uestior	ıs from	commi	ttee members (20%)	
							us literature relative to	students' research
	Fully met					1		
2.	Defended the m	ethodo	logy and	d analy	sis used			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Justified conclus	sions						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Ac	tive Participatio	n and	Adhere	nce to	contrac	t (if ap	plicable) and deadlin	<u>es</u> (5%)
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
<u>Co</u>	omments:							
	NAL GRADE:							
Sig	gnature of Facul	ty Mei	ntor				Dat	e

GRADING CRITERIA PT 793: Research Project-Journal Format Manuscript

St	udent(s):					SEMESTER/YEAR:					
to							cuss the following criteria that indicate the abilities of the research project and its implications	ty			
							nte indicator on the scale below. The written paract on which the scoring is based.	_ >ei			
In	nplementation (1	0%)									
	Data gathering n	nethods		cedures 3		ilized c 1	orrectly, i.e. appropriate to the question Not met				
2	Validity and reli	iability	of the s	selected	instrum	ents and	d data were identified				
	Fully met	•		3	2	1	Not met				
3.	Methods utilized	d in ana	lyzing	data we	re applie	ed corre	ectly				
		5			2		Not met				
4.	Committee men	nbers w	ere util	ized eff	ectively	and ap	propriately				
	Fully met			3			Not met				
W	ritten Manuscri	<u>pt</u> (35%	6) Resu	ılts							
1.	Results of analy	sis were	presen	ited clea	ırly in a	n organ	izedmanner				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met				
2.	Tables and figur	res were	e used e	ffective	ly to en	hance p	presentation of results				
	Fully met		4	3	2	1	Not met				
<u>Di</u>	scussion and Co	nclusio	<u>ns</u>								
	Interpretation of			vas accu	ırate						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met				
2.	Discussion/conc	lusions	related	to conc	eptual fi	ramewo	ork and research question(s)				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met				
3.		concise;	findin	gs of stu	ıdy were	e relateo	d to previous research, as presented in review of	f			
	the literature Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met				

4.	Conclusions were			-	-		N-44
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.	Generalizations v	vere cor	nfined to	the pop	pulation	from v	which the sample was drawn
		5					Not met
6	Implications for t	funthan s	.agaarah	wara di	Saussad	and ba	and an autoamas of the study
0.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	and bas	sed on outcomes of the study Not met
	1 uniy mee	· ·	•	J	-	•	1 (ot met
7.		_				_	ne profession were clearly discussed
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
Stv	<u>vle</u> (10%)						
		was us	ed (incl	uding sr	oelling.	punctua	ation, tense, word choice)
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.				-	_	_	lly with appropriate transitions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Style used was co	onsisten	t with tl	ne appro	opriate i	ournal 1	requirements
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	- 0						
4.	References were		•	2	2		N T
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	l	Not met
5.	Tone of the repor	t displa	ved a no	eutral at	titude		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	_						
6.					-		r without repeated feedback
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
Or	al Defense						
	al Presentation (2	20%)					
			and app	ropriate	use of	AV (or	other) equipment
	Fully met	5	4	3			
2	Summarized rese	anah au	actions				
۷.	Fully met	5		3	2	1	Not met
	Tuny met	3	7	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Summarized prev	ious re	search r	eported	in the li	iteratur	e
		5		_	2	1	Not met
			_				
4.	Summarized met			•	2	1	N
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met

5.	Summarized res Fully met		4	3	2	1	Not met	
6.	Summarized res	ults rela	ative to	previou	ıs resea	rch		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
7.							rection for future research	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
8.	Summarized res Fully met		mitatio 4	ons.	2	1	Not met	
<u>De</u>	<u>fense – i.e., abili</u>	ty to ar	ıswer (question	ıs from	comm	ittee members (20%)	
1.	Demonstrated un	ndersta	nding a	nd synt	hesis of	previou	us literature relative to students' i	research
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
2.	Defended the me	ethodol 5	ogy an 4	d analys	sis used	1	Not met	
3.	Justified and det	fended (conclus	sions an	d clinica	al impli	cations	
٠.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Ac	tive Participatio	on and A	Adher	ence to	contrac	et and d	leadlines (5%)	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
<u>Co</u>	omments:							
FII	NAL GRADE: _							
Sig	gnature of Facul	ty Men	tor				Date	

GRADING CRITERIA PT 790: Case Report Development Progress

St	udent(s):						SEMESTER/YEAR:					
	nis grading rubric is mpletion of the Wi					ects tha	t were not able	e to have a fully developed proposal by the				
	dicate achievement pectations and time		iteria by	circlin	g the ap	propria	te rating on the	e scale below with regard to agreed upon				
1.	Literature review Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	N/A				
2.	Development of a Fully met	prob	lem state 4	ement 3	2	1	Not met	N/A				
3.	Identification of g Fully met	ap(s)	in literat	ture to 1	be addre 2	essed by 1	the case repo Not met	rt N/A				
4.	Identifies and out Fully met	lines a	available 4	histori 3	cal, exa	minatio 1	n, and outcom Not met	ne data N/A				
5.	Identifies and out Fully met	lines i	informati 4	ion rela	ated to the	ne interv 1	ventions provi Not met	ded through the episode of care N/A				
6.	Develops an outling Fully met	ne of 5	the writt 4	en case	e report	1	Not met	N/A				
7.	Other tasks as ass Fully met	igned 5	/agreed ι 4	apon: _	2	1	Not met	N/A				
<u>C</u>	omments:											
C	ASE STUDY DEV	ELO)	PMENT	PROG	RESS C	GRADE	S:					
Si	gnature of Faculty	y Mei	ntor					 Date				

GRADING CRITERIA PT 790: Case Report

Ca	se Report Title:_				SEMESTER/YEAR:							
Stı	udent(s):											
Inc	dicate achieveme	nt of cr	iteria by	circlin	g the ap	propria	ate indicator on the scale below.					
					Writter	ı Manı	script					
<u>In</u>	troduction (15%	5)										
1.	Identifies purpos						N					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
2.	Provides rationa	le for th	ne impo	rtance o	of topic/f	ocus						
	Fully met						Not met					
2	Duaridae baalsaa		. C 4:	£	. 41 1:4 .	4	alatad to the assumance to Constitute and denotes disc					
3.	of the problem a				i the lite	rature r	related to the purpose to facilitate understanding					
	Fully met				2	1	Not met					
_												
	tient Description Provides sufficie			to allow	v idantii	Figation	of similar aggs					
1.	Fully met											
	,	-										
2.	Includes relevan											
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
3.	Includes descrip	otion of	tests us	ed and	cites refe	erences						
	Fully met											
	** 1' 1'		C									
4.	Validity and relified Fully met			and me			ribed and referenced Not met					
	runy met	3	4	3	2	1	Not met					
5.	Terms used are	operation	onally d	efined								
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
6	Tables, figures a	nd illu	strations	a aamn1	omant ta	ov t						
6.	Fully met	111us 5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
		-										
	tervention (15%	*	1.									
1.	Examination, expresented	/aluat10	n, diagn	iosis, an	d progn	osis are	clearly explained and supported by the data					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					

2.				_			s and expected outcome is provided	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Describes clinical referenced	al decis	ion-mal	king pro	ocess and	d ration	ale for intervention is provided, explained an	ıd
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	Interventions are Fully met	e descri 5	bed in o	detail ar 3	nd refere 2	nced 1	Not met	
	runy met	3	4	3	2	1	Not met	
5.		•					scribed and referenced	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
6.							nd used to summarize interventions	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
	<u>ıtcome</u> (15%)							
1.		-				-	rpose of the case	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
2.	Includes objecti	ve data	regardi	ing cha	nges in f	unction	nal abilities	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Results relate to	purpos	se, diag	nosis, tı	reatment	and pr	rognosis	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	Tables, figures a	and illu	stration	s effect	ively de	signed	to reflect outcomes, where appropriate	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
<u>Di</u>	scussion (20%)							
1.	Links case to pu	-						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
2.	Discusses theore		sis for i		ition and	l clinica	al decisions	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Reflects on case	_						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	Discussed poten	tial fact	ors infl	uencing	•	es		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
5.	Strengths and w		ses of ca		agemen		esed	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	

6.	Discusses learning	ng that c	came at	out as	a result	of this	case and relevance for future
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
7.	Poses research q						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
8.	Cites references t		ort expl	anatior			
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	le and Revisions						
1.	Correct grammar first language	(includ	ding spe	elling,	punctuat	tion, co	instant tense, word choice, etc.) and uses person-
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Thoughts are pre	sented	clearly	and pro	ogress lo	gically	with appropriate transitions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Style used is con	sistent v	with tha	t propo	sed by tl	ne Amo	erican Physical Therapy Association
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	References are c	ited cor	rectly				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.	Recommended re				•		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	<u>al Defense</u> (10%		1. /	21 1	1 .1		
l.							or framework for the case report, addresses the re for case management
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Cleary states pur	pose ar	nd focus	s of the	e case rer	ort	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Concisely and cl	early p	resents	case hi	story an	d exam	nination findings, including justification and
	reliability/validit	-					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Discusses evalua care	ition an	d interp	oretatio	on of find	lings, c	liagnosis, and prognosis that guided PT plan of
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.	Clearly describes	s selecte	ed inter	ventio	ns with r	ational	e for their use
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met

6.	Explains clinica	l decis	ion-mak	ring reg	arding p	orogress	ion and modifications of selected	interventions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Fully met 7. Discusses pat Fully met 8. Reflects on ca Fully met 9. Discusses clin Fully met 10. Justifies conc recommendations Fully met Comments: RESEARCH PRO	Discusses patier	nt outc	omes an	d their	relations	ship to s	tated purpose of case report	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
8.	Reflects on case	mana	gement	and pati	ient out	comes		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
9.		al find		ative to	previou	s literat	are	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
					ications	s of case	report, including limitations and	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Co	mments:							
RE	ESEARCH PROP	OSAL	GRAD	E:				
Sig	gnature of Facul	ty Me	ntor				Date	

GRADING CRITERIA PT 793: Case Report

Ca	ase Report Title:_				SEMESTER/YEAR:							
St	udent(s):											
In	dicate achieveme	nt of cr	iteria by	circlin circlin	g the ap	propria	te indicator on the scale below.					
					Writtei	ı Manu	script					
	troduction (10%											
1.	Identifies purpor											
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
2.	Provides rations	ale for t	he impo	ortance	of tonic	focus						
۷.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
	,											
3.	_				the liter	ature re	lated to the purpose to facilitate understanding					
	of the problem a				2		N					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
Pa	ntient Description	n (15%)									
	Provides sufficie			to allov	v identii	fication	of similar cases					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
_												
2.	Includes relevan											
	Fully met	3	4	3	2	1	Not met					
3.	Includes descrip	otion of	tests us	ed and o	cites refe	erences						
٠.	Fully met					1	Not met					
	·											
4.	=	-					ribed and referenced					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
5	Terms used are	o n oroti.	onally d	afinad								
٦.	Fully met	ореган 5	onany u 4	3	2	1	Not met					
	Tully lifet	3	•	3	2	1	Tvot met					
6.	Tables, figures an	nd illus	trations	comple	ment te	xt						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
		`										
	tervention (15%	*	. diaa	ania			alcoulty available of and assessment of her the distance					
ı.	presented	/aiuatio	n, alagn	iosis, an	u progn	osis are	clearly explained and supported by the data					
	Fully mot	5	4	2	2	1	Not mot					

2.	Provides plan of	f care, ir	ncluding	g physic	cal thera	py goals	and expected outcome is provided
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Describes clinic referenced	al decis	ion-ma	king pro	ocess and	d rationa	le for intervention is provided, explained and
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Interventions ar	e descri	bed in o	detail ar	nd refere	nced	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.		•					cribed and referenced
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
6.					_		nmarize interventions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	<u>itcome</u> (10%)		. 1 1	• .		.1	0.1
l.	Objective data a	-				the purp	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Includes objecti		_	_	_		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Results relate to		_				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Tables, figures a	and illus	strations	s effecti	vely des	signed to	summarize outcomes where appropriate
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
<u>Di</u>	scussion (20%)						
1.	Links case to pu	irpose a	nd revie	ewed ev	idence/li	iterature	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Discusses theore	etical ba	sis for i	nterver	ition and	d clinical	decisions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Reflects on case						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Discussed poter				_		
	Fully me	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.	Strengths and w	eakness	ses of ca	ase man	agemen	t discuss	ed
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met

о.	Discusses learni	_	came a			oi this	case and relevance for future
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
7.	Poses future res	search q	uestion				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
8.	Cites Reference	es to sup	port ex	kplanati	ons.		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	le and Revisions						
1.	Correct grammar first language	r (inclu	ding sp	elling,	punctuat	tion, co	nstant tense, word choice, etc.) and uses people-
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2.	Thoughts are pre	esented	clearly	and pro	gress lo	gically	with appropriate transitions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Style used is con	sistent v	with tha	at propo	sed by tl	he Ame	erican Physical Therapy Association
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	References are		-				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.	Recommended					-	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
	al Defense (20%	•					
1.							or framework for the case report, addresses the re for case management
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
2	Cleary states pur	rnose at	nd focu	s of the	case rei	ort	
۷٠	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Concisely and cl	learly p	resents	case hi	story an	d exam	ination findings, including justification and
	reliability/validit	ty & M	DC for	selecte	d tests a	nd mea	sures
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Discusses evalua	ation an	d inter	pretatio	n of find	lings, d	liagnosis, and prognosis that guided PT plan of
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
5.	Clearly describe	s select	ed inte	rventio	ns with r	ational	e for their use
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met

6.	Explains clinical	decisi	on-mak	ing reg	arding p	rogress	sion and modifications of selected interven	tions				
	Fully met	5	4	3			Not met					
 6. Explains clinical decision-making regarding progression and modifications of selected intervention Fully met 5 4 3 2 1 Not met 7. Discusses patient outcomes and their relationship to stated purpose of case report Fully met 5 4 3 2 1 Not met 8. Reflects on case management and patient outcomes Fully met 5 4 3 2 1 Not met 9. Discusses clinical findings relative to previous literature Fully met 5 4 3 2 1 Not met 10. Justifies conclusions and clinical implications of case report, including limitations and recommendations for future research Fully met 5 4 3 2 1 Not met Comments: 												
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
8.												
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
9.					_							
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	I	Not met					
10.	recommendations for future research											
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
Co	Comments:											
FΠ	NAL GRADE:											
Sic	nature of Facult	v Mor	itor				Date					
Sig	mature or racult	y 141C1	1101				Dau					

GRADING CRITERIA PT 790: Systematic Review Proposal Progress

Si	tudent(s):						SEMESTER/YEAR:						
	nis grading rubric empletion of the W					ects that	t were not able	e to have	a fully developed proposal by the				
	dicate achievemer spectations and tim		iteria by	circling	g the ap	propriat	te rating on the	e scale be	elow with regard to agreed upon				
1.	Literature review Fully met		4	3	2	1	Not met	N/A					
2.	Development of Fully met			ement 3	2	1	Not met	N/A					
3.	Development of Fully met	researc 5	ch questi 4	on(s)	2	1	Not met	N/A					
4.	Development of Fully met	search 5	strategy 4		_	rch term 1	ns and database Not met	es N/A					
5.	Determination o Fully met	f releva 5	ant article 4	e inclus	sion/exc	lusion c	riteria Not met	N/A					
6.	Identification of Fully met	instrun 5	nent(s) to		s method	dologica 1	al rigor of incl Not met	uded arti N/A	icles				
7.	Identification of Fully met	data to	be extra	acted 3	2	1	Not met	N/A					
8.	Determination o	f plan t lly met	_	et and s	synthesi 3	ze inclu 2		t met	N/A				
9.	Other tasks as as Fully met	ssigned 5	/agreed ι 4	upon: _	2	1	Not met						
<u>C</u>	omments:												
	YSTEMATIC RE			SAL D	EVELC	PMEN	T PROGRES	S GRAD	DE:				
Si	gnature of Facul	ty Mer	ıtor					Dat	ee —				

GRADING CRITERIA PT 790: Systematic Review Proposal

Tit	tle:					SEMESTER/YEAR:						
Stı	udent(s):							_				
	ne written paper su sed.	ubmitted	d at the	time of	the prop	posal de	efense is the product on which the scorin	g is				
	ckground on th				(10%)							
1.	Clinical question	n is clea	arly stat	ted								
	Fully Met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
2.	Clinical signific	cance of	questic	on is clea	ar							
	Fully Met					1	Not met					
3.	Purpose of and 1	need for	r literatı	ure revie	ew is cl	early sta	ated					
	Fully Met											
Li	terature Review	(25%)										
	All relevant top			sented								
	Fully met				2	1	Not met					
2.	Literature revie	w is sun	nmarize	ed with i	mplicat	tions for	r proposed review					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
3.	A summary of f	acts, pr	oblems	or contr	oversie	s found	in the literature is provided					
	Fully Met	_		3	2	1	Not met					
M	ethodology (25%	6)										
	Research design	,	describ	oed								
	Fully met				2	1	Not met					
2.	Research design	is appr	opriate	to soluti	ion of p	roblem						
	Fully met											
3.	Inclusion and ex	xclusion	n criteri	a are des	scribed							
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					
4.	Method for asse	essing le	vel of e	vidence	and me	ethodolo	ogical rigor is described					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met					

5.	Search terms and	databa	ases for	literatu	re searc	h are de	scribed	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
6.	Appropriate form Fully met	ns are in	ncluded 4	l, i.e., in 3	nvestiga 2	tor scor	ing sheets for level of Not met	evidence and rigor
Sty	<u>/le</u> (15%)							
1.	Correct grammar	: (inclu	ding sp	elling, p	ounctuat	ion, con	stant tense, word choice	ce, etc.)
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
2.	Thoughts are pre	sented	clearly	and pro	gress lo	gically	with appropriate transi	tions
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Style used is con	sistent	with the	e Schoo	l of Hea	alth Prof	Sessions and APA/AM	A Manuals
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	References are co	orrectly	cited					
	Fully met		4	3	2	1	Not met	
5	Recommended re	evision	s were 1	made in	a timel	v mann	ar	
٥.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
Or	al Defense (10%)						
	Summarized rese		unothes	ic(ec) o	r anactic	m(c)		
1.	Fully met	5		3	questic	1	Not met	
2	G : 1		1		11	11.		
2.	Summarized pre							
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
3.	Summarized met							
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
4.	Summarized lim	itations	s of revi	iew				
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
5.	Demonstrated un	derstan	iding an	d synth	esis of p	orevious	literature relative to s	students' research
	Fully met	5	4	3	2		Not met	
6.	Defended method	dology	andana	alvtic ar	proach	or statis	tics utilized	
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	
	Tuny met	J		3	2	1	1 vot met	
Ac	<u>tive participatio</u> i	n and a	adherei	nce to c	ontract	t (if apr	<u>licable) and deadline</u>	<u>es</u> (15%)
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met	

<u>Comments</u> :	
RESEARCH PROPOSAL GRADE:	
Signature of Faculty Mentor	- Date
digitation of a acuity months	Date

GRADING CRITERIA PT 793: Systematic Review

Title:					SEMESTER/YEAR:					
Stı	udent(s):									
to							cuss the following criteria that indicate the ability ect of the thesis and its implications for the			
pa	per submitted at th	ne time					ate indicator on the scale below.) The written product on which the scoring is based.			
	Data gathering n Fully met		s or prod	cedures 3	were uti	ilized c	orrectly, i.e. appropriate to the question Not met			
2.	Methods utilized Fully met	l in ana 5	alyzing t 4	the litera	ature we	ere appli	ed correctly Not met			
3.	Committee men Fully met	nbers w 5	vere utili 4	ized effo	ectively 2	and ap	propriately Not met			
	ritten Manuscrip States results of (including reaso Fully met	search,	and pro	ovides n		and desc	eription of studies included and excluded Not met			
2.	Succinctly sumr Fully met	narizes 5	include 4	ed studio	es with r	egard to	o level of evidence and methodological rigor Not met			
3.	Accurately sum: Fully met	marize: 5	s finding 4	gs of rev	view wi	th regar 1	d to the research question Not met			
4.	Uses tables and summary of incl	luded s		vely to a	assist wi	th prese	entation of results of level of evidence, rigor, or Not met			

Di	scussion and Cor	nclusions	<u>S</u>						
	Interpretation of			was ac	curate				
	Fully met	5	4	3		1	Not met		
2	Discussion/concl	lusions re	lated to	concer	otual fra	meworl	k and research question(s)		
۷.	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
3.	Discussion was of the literature	concise; fi	indings	of stud	y were	related	to previous research, as presented in review of		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
4.	Generalizations were confined to the population from which the sample was drawn								
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
5	Implications for further research were discussed and based on outcomes of the study								
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
6	Conclusions were substantiated by evidence presented								
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
Sty	<u>vle</u> (10%)								
		r was use	d (inclu	iding sp	elling,	punctua	ation, tense, word choice)		
	Fully met	5	4	3		1	Not met		
2	Thoughts were clearly presented and progressed logically with appropriate transitions								
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
3.	Style used was c	Style used was consistent with the appropriate journal requirements							
٥.	Fully met	5	4	3	2		Not met		
1	•								
4.	References were Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
5.	Tone of the report displayed a neutral attitude								
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
6.							r without repeated feedback		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
Or	al Defense								
	<u>ral Presentation</u> (_				
1.				-			other) equipment		
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		
2.	Summarized nee			-					
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met		

Sig	nature of Facult	y Ment	tor				Date
FII	mments: NAL GRADE:						
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
Ac						t (if apr	plicable) and deadlines (5%)
	Fully met	5	4	3	2	1	Not met
3.	Justified and defe						
2.	Defended the me Fully met	thodolo 5	ogy and 4	analysi 3	is used 2	1	Not met
1.	Demonstrated un Fully met	derstand 5	ding and	d synthe	esis of p	previous 1	s literature relative to students' research Not met
<u>De</u>	fense – i.e., abilit	y to an	swer q	uestion	ıs from	comm	ittee members (20%)
8.	Summarized rese Fully met	earch lin 5	nitation 4	is 3	2	1	Not met
7.	Stated conclusion Fully met	ns, impl 5	ications 4	s, applic	cations 2	and dire	ection for future research Not met
0.	Fully met	5		_	2	1	Not met
6	Summarized resu						Not met
5.	Summarized resu Fully met		4	3	2	1	Not met
4.	Summarized met Fully met		gy and a	3	2	1	Not met
1	Ž					1	Not met
3.	Summarized rese Fully met	earch qu 5	estions 4	3	2	1	Not met

APPENDIX D | Information on the Case Report Option

PHYSICAL THERAPY CASE REPORT

Introduction

Although there presently are major initiatives in the Physical Therapy profession to promote and conduct well-controlled bench and clinical research, the need for case reports has also been advocated (McEwen, 2001). According to Jules Rothstein, Editor of *Physical Therapy*,

The vagaries of patient care are too important to be left to random communications, jargon-laden continuing education courses or accidental dialogues. We should agree and disagree in public and grow through that discourse. We should talk to each other about what we do and do so using clear language. We should write so that we refine our descriptions, agree on terms and definitions, and evolve a common language of practice... That is, we should write case reports (McEwen, 2001)!

Recently, Rothstein proclaimed that there was a need to conduct and submit case reports to *Physical Therapy*. Other well-recognized physical therapy and medical journals, such as *Journal of Orthopedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, *New England Journal of Medicine*, and *Spine*, to name a few, routinely include case reports. Thus, it is well accepted that case reports are more than just shoptalk but are an essential part of the physical therapy and medical literature and they are reviewed with the same scrutiny as experimental research. Case reports do not replace research reports, but complement traditional research, and can provide researchers with the background they need to design future research and clinical trials.

The purposes of this proposal are twofold: 1) to define what we mean by case report and describe the need for case reports, and 2) outline a specific plan for how graduate physical therapy students will complete a case report (should they elect that option) to satisfy program requirements.

Why perform case reports?

Case reports are not the same as case studies or single-subject designs, which refer to research methodologies that have procedures and standards of their own. Case reports simply describe practice but succinctly describe practice in detail so that readers have a clear understanding of the procedures used. The credibility of case reports is often enhanced by attempting to control, rule out or acknowledge alternative explanations for outcomes, but case reports do not impose the controls required to identify cause-and-effect relationships among variables. Case reports may focus on a single patient or group of patients (most common), or alternatively, on institutions, facilities, education programs or other definable units. The variety of issues examined in case reports may include patient management, ethical dilemmas, use of equipment or devices, or administrative or educational concerns.

Case reports have an important place in the professional physical therapy literature and serve several purposes:

1. Evidence-based medicine (practice) is a phrase heard in all circles of medicine and advocated as the best way to practice in this new century. Evidence-based practice is defined as—the integration of best research evidence with clinical expertise and patient values... When these three elements are integrated, clinicians and patients form a diagnostic and therapeutic alliance which optimizes

- clinical outcomes and quality of life. (Sackett, Straus, Richardson, et al., 2000). Evidence-based practice uses the best available evidence to decide, and case reports are an ideal mechanism for students to learn how to integrate best research evidence, clinical experience, and patient values.
- 2. Because of the nature of randomized-controlled or cohort research designs day-to-day clinical questions are often left unanswered. In contrast, case reports detail the content that would be necessary for another clinician to implement the approach discussed in the report, or to answer day-to-day clinical questions. Furthermore, reported clinical outcomes for individual patients, which are rarely considered in clinical trials, textbooks, and continuing education courses, are readily available and useful. Case reports published in peer-reviewed journals represent the consensus of the primary author and other clinical experts. Thus, while case reports cannot give definitive answers to clinical questions, they do provide readers access to the reflective experiences and knowledge of experts.
- 3. In traditional research investigators can only examine a limited number of variables under controlled conditions. In case reports, research details of the case have the potential to become a variable for future research that could eventually lead to definitive answers to clinical questions. Thus, student and faculty case reports can provide a broad base of descriptive information that can be used by other researchers in future empirical studies.
- 4. Case reports have been used extensively in professional academic programs, such as business and law, to assist students develop critical-thinking and problem-solving skills. Additionally, the process of writing case reports helps students develop skills in surveying the literature and becoming involved with peer-reviewed processes. Finally, as students write about the patient, examination and intervention procedures and outcomes they are continually refining their scientific writing skills.
- 5. Theory has been described as a body of knowledge that serves as a framework for organizing complex and diverse information. (McEwen, 2001). Good science dictates that theory be continually expanded. Thus, case reports can serve to support theory by providing details to a theoretical skeleton. Moreover, theory can be expanded or may be placed in doubt secondary to information from case reports that describe experiences that go beyond current theory or are not consistent with current theory.
- 6. Finally, information from case reports may be used to persuade clinicians or administrators to reexamine traditional practice patterns or management policies. Although case reports cannot provide definitive answers about treatment effectiveness, case reports can be a springboard for the development of practice guidelines, critical pathways, and other patient management approaches.

Having provided a rationale for case reports what follows will be a description of the protocol that GVSU PT students will follow.

Preparation of students

Case report is one of the options open to students to fulfill their graduate requirements (**PT 790**-*Physical Therapy Research II*), therefore not all students will

be involved in this activity. Students who elect this option will be required to conduct two (2) case report projects. Prior to the first case report, all students will have successfully completed one five-week full time clinical experience (1st professional year).

Additionally, they would have successfully completed three research courses: 1) PT 512 (Evidence Based Practice in Physical Therapy) develops student's skills in scientific writing, reviewing and critiquing clinical research and introduces research design (completed in the Fall semester of 1st professional year), 2) STA 610 (Applied Statistics for the Health Professions) where students learn about statistical tests and data analysis related to research design (completed in Spring/Summer of 1st professional year) and 3) **PT 610** (*Research in the Physical Therapy*) where students engage in an in-depth study of research design (including case report) (completed in the Fall semester of their 2nd professional year). Second-year students will collect data for the first case report during a six-week clinical experience that occurs in the 2nd professional year. Students will write up this first case to fulfill requirements for PT 790 (completed by end of 2nd professional year). The first case report will provide students with experience in the definition of a clinical question and selection of case, data collection, documentation, review of literature, and refinement of scientific writing skills, thus preparing them for the completion of their second case report. In the Fall semester of the 3rd professional year, students complete two 9-week full-time clinical experiences. During one of these experiences, they will collect data for a second case report, which will subsequently be completed in their final academic semester on campus as a requirement for **PT 793** (*Physical Therapy Research II*).

Guidance for students

Students will be advised of their research options beginning in PT 512 and continuing in PT 610. During participation in PT 610, students who select the case report option will receive guidance by the course faculty, as well as by physical therapy faculty mentor with case report and clinical experience. For both case report projects students will receive advice from their clinical instructor, who will be informed about the projects, the Director of Clinical Education (DCE) and a specific faculty member with relevant clinical expertise.

Responsibilities of students when conducting case report at clinical sights

A case report will be conducted in affiliated physical therapy clinical sites locally and regionally in the State of Michigan, as well as sites in other regions of the United States. GVSU has established legal contracts with all affiliation sites. At the appropriate time, sites will be informed that a specific student will be completing case report during 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} year clinical experience. When students arrive at the institution/clinical site they will complete the following before they can begin data collection:

- 1. Affirm with the clinical instructor (institutional sponsor) their intent to conduct case report.
- 2. Provide the clinical instructor with a copy of signed assurance form (*see student assurance form in this appendix*).
- 3. Select an appropriate case within two weeks.
- 4. Inform the patient's referring physician (see Physician Notification form in this appendix) if appropriate to the clinical organization.
- 5. Secure informed consent from the patient and/or parent/guardian (see informed consent forms in this appendix).

6. Complete any required form from the clinical organization.

Case report

With the assistance of their clinical instructor, students will be responsible for selecting their case within the first two (2) weeks of the clinical experience, and evaluation and treatment sequences used for the patient.

Participants

Participants will be patients who have been referred for physical therapy services at the clinical site where students are affiliating. They will be patients who are followed by the student and their clinical instructor. Generally, participants are selected on the basis of the need to report on the specific, and sometimes unique, literature and evaluation and treatment sequences used for that particular patient. Potential participants will be asked if they would be willing to be a participant for a case report. If the patient agrees verbally, the purpose of a case report will be explained to them, and they will be given an opportunity to ask questions and sign informed consent. The student will also obtain signed HIPAA release from the patient/guardian and clearly inform the patient regarding what medical record data will be collected for the case report consent. Students will then be allowed access to this information that is necessary to their understanding and development of the case report.

Instruments

Since case reports reflect standard practice in physical therapy the instruments used for physical examination and intervention are tools that are routinely used in clinical practice. Such tools include goniometers, tape measures, reflex hammers, and functional ability physical assessments and questionnaires, to name a few. Students have received instruction and have demonstrated competency for the use of these standard tools. Should students be introduced to new methods of examination and measurement at their clinical site they must demonstrate competency in the use of these instruments prior to their use as part of the case report (responsibility of the clinical instructor). In an effort to have a more complete data set, students may elect to collect follow-up data (via phone questionnaire) after the patient has been discharged.

Routinely, videotapes, photographs or other visual images may be taken as part of data collection and outcome measurement. If it is likely that these materials will be used to illustrate patient presentation and treatment in written or oral presentations, students will follow existing procedures at the institution/clinical site for obtaining consent for the collection, use, or reproduction of this data. In addition, there is a section in the consent form where the patient and/or parent/guardian can indicate willingness (or unwillingness) for photographic or videotape data to be used in case presentations or publications.

Treatment procedures

Frequency and duration of treatment procedures will vary from patient to patient, as in routine clinical care, depending on the nature of the clinical problem. Patients involved in case report will not receive special or experimental treatments, nor will care be withheld as part of some type of control. All procedures will follow standard physical therapy practice.

Any adverse effects from routine physical therapy intervention will be managed according to standard practice procedures or as dictated by clinical site policies and procedures. For example, consultation with, or referral to, the referring physician or other health care practitioner may be necessary to initiate new therapies or modify present therapies, dependent on patient response to intervention. Likewise, incident reports acknowledging unusual events, e.g. patient fall during therapy, will be completed as dictated by clinical site procedures.

Benefits

Since standard physical therapy care is being provided for the patient, benefits are those associated with full participation in the physical therapy program. Benefits will also be gained by the professional community should case report experiences and results be presented at local, regional or national meetings, or be published. Future patients with similar problems may benefit if case report results in critical evaluation and change in practice patterns.

Risks

Most risks are those associated with participation in the physical therapy program, which are minimal since standard physical therapy practice will be provided. No experimental examination or treatment procedures will be given to patients. Additional risks could be loss of confidentiality if the collected information is lost, stolen or inappropriately accessed.

Confidentiality

Raw data from physical examination or medical records will be shared only with the student's clinical instructor or supervising PT or other health care professionals associated with the patient in the clinical setting (those who would normally have access to these data). All patient information will be kept confidential in any written manuscripts or oral presentation of the case report. In such reports, name or any other identifier that could be directly linked to the participant will not identify patients. The institution/clinical site name and geographic location where the patient was seen will also not be identified. The student's academic faculty advisor will be responsible for maintaining a file of the record following completion of the case report project, including consent forms.

Student assurance

Student will complete and sign an assurance form (*see student assurance form in this appendix*) that will be submitted to GVSU's case report faculty advisor (with copy to institution/clinical site clinical instructor). This form provides assurances that the student understands and agrees to abide by the terms and procedures of the GVSU Department of Physical Therapycase report program.

Informed consent

After an appropriate patient for the case report is identified, they will be asked if they would be willing to be participant for the clinical case report. The patient will be provided with a consent form that will be reviewed with them. If the patient consents to participation in a case report, they will be asked to sign the consent form. The patient will be given a copy of their signed informed consent.

If the patient is a minor (age 7 to 17 years old), assent will be sought from the patient and consent from the parent or guardian, respectively, if the patient is less than 7 years only parental/legal guardian

consent will be sought. In age-appropriate language the purpose of the case report will be explained to the minor, as well as to the parent or legal guardian; the student PT may read the assent/consent form to the child or parent/guardian. Should a minor or adult patient be unable to give informed consent for cognitive reasons, only the parent/legal guardian informed consent will be signed. Copies of signed informed consent will be provided to the minor and the parent or legal guardian.

The original signed assent and consent forms will be provided to student's faculty research advisor and a copy given to the student's clinical instructor. Copies of all signed records (assurance, physician approval, assent and consent forms) will be kept on file by the student's faculty research advisor with the case report records for a period of at least 8 years.

References

- 1. McEwen, I. R. (Ed.). (2009). Writing Case Reports, A How-To Manual for Clinicians (3rd edition), American Physical Therapy Association: Alexandria, VA.
- 2. Sackett, D.L., Straus, S. E., Richardson, W. S., et al. (2000). *Evidence-Based Medicine, How to Practice and Teach EBM* (2nd edition), Churchill Livingstone: Edinburgh.
- 3. Portney, L. G. and Watkins, M. P. (2000). *Foundations of Clinical Research, Applications to Practice* (2nd edition), Prentice Hall Health: Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- 4. Mostrom, E. (1995). Proposal, Physical Therapy Case Reports, Graduate Program in Physical Therapy, Central Michigan University: Mount Pleasant, MI

Procedures to Initiate Case Report

When students arrive at the institution/clinical site, they will complete the following procedure before they can begin data collection:

- 1. Affirm with the Clinical Instructor (CI) their intent to complete a case report.
- 2. Provide the CI or CCCE with a copy of the signed assurance form.
- 3. Select an appropriate case within two weeks.
- 4. Inform the patient's referring physician (after patient has agreed to participate and allow physician to be notified) regarding the intent to complete case report (see physician notification form).
- 5. Secure signed patient informed consent (using forms approved by GVSU IRB) and any other consent forms appropriate to the clinical organization.
- 6. Complete any required form from clinical organization (IRB/administration).

Guidelines for Clinical Instructors (CI) Supervising Case Report

Your GVSU study has selected writing of a case report to fulfill the research requirement for the DPT degree. This document defines case report project requirements, GVSU student preparation and important information regarding informed consent. In addition to this information, we encourage you to consider the following suggestions as you anticipate working with a GVSU PT student on a case report project. If you want to learn more about writing case reports you might consider obtaining an APTA publication titled, *Writing Case Reports* (3rd edition, 2009), by Irene McEwen.

The completion of a case report is one of the research options for GVSU PT students. One objective of this type of scholarly product is to give the student an experience in the application of evidence-based practice. Many students and clinicians perceive clinical research as challenging, but we believe that the completion of a case report does not have to be, and we hope that your experience with our students will prove that to be true. You will have some influence on what case may be selected so this case report project can also be used by you to investigate an area of interest, e.g., a particular treatment technique or use of a particular outcome measurement.

Clinical instructors will serve as primary content experts during the completion of a case report. Therefore, patient selection is critical to the success of this project. You should consider your area of specialization, special equipment and techniques that are available, your area(s) of interest, as well as the student's prior experiences and interests. Patient (case) selection should occur within the first two weeks of the student's clinical experience. The CI can facilitate the selection process by arranging their schedule to include patients with a diagnosis that the student and CI are considering for the case report. Alternatively, the CI might consider taking over evaluation and management of an appropriate patient from another therapist. In any event, early patient selection is critical.

The CI is the primary mentor during case selection and the evaluation and treatment stages. The CI needs to assist students in clinical decision-making that includes examination and evaluation (selection of valid/reliable tests and measures, performing and interpreting tests and measures accurately and reliably) and selection of appropriate evidence-based interventions and treatment progressions. Finally, if the student completes the clinical experience prior to the case report participant discharge, the CI can

assist students in further assessment of patients by providing information on status at discharge or any changes in status (students will be encouraged to conduct a one-month post-discharge follow-up).

We encourage the CI and department staff to take advantage of the case report work by having students do one or all of the following:

- present their literature review of the case they are working on as an in-service,
- present the case report as an in-service in its entirety, or
- have the participating CI collaborate with the student and submit the case report for publication.

Essential Components and Guidelines for Writing a Case Report

Introduction

- Provide background on the topic of case
- State why it is important and how it will add to body of literature
- Cite the literature supporting management of case
- Provide theory for framework for the case
- Clearly state purpose and focus of the case

Case Description

- Provide organized information on the case (patient/client/situation)
- Use models to present case (such as Disablement Model or Patient/client management model)
- Provide chronology or timeframe for patient condition, sign/symptoms
- Explain why you chose this case
- Discuss focused examination findings and clinical reasoning for the tests
- Support tests with operational definitions, reliability and validity when available
- Generate hypothesis regarding cause/underlying problem based on findings
- Reflect clinical decision-making
- Provide evaluation, prognosis and plan of care for case
- Support with references when available
- Use figures and/or tables to supplement presentation of examination findings

Intervention

- Describe intervention with rationale for its selection
- Provide references supporting selected interventions
- Discuss frequency, intensity, duration and how intervention applied (replicable)
- Discuss patient participation (adherence) with intervention or HEP
- Explain clinical decision-making regarding progression of intervention or modification of selected intervention
- Use table and/or figures to present intervention and progression

Outcomes

• Provide objective data on patient status post intervention

- Provide chronology or time frame for outcomes and any follow-up measures
- Link measurements impairment, functional limitations and disability
- Relate outcomes to goals set and expected outcomes
- Relate outcomes to purpose of case
- Use tables and/or graphs to summarize outcomes

Discussion

- Link case to purpose and relate to literature/evidence reviewed
- Discuss theoretical basis for clinical decisions and case management
- Reflect on interventions and outcomes
- Discuss possible explanations for outcomes and factors that may have influenced outcomes
- Discuss positive and negative aspects of case management
- What was learned from the case and how will it add to the literature?
- Pose research questions and suggestions for future research based on this case

References

McEwen I: Writing Case Reports, 3rd ed. American Physical Therapy Association, 2009 Alexandria, VA

Childs JD: Case Reports: Can We Improve? J Orthop Sports Physical Therapy, 2004; 34: 44-46



ASSURANCE FORM

for Students Completing Physical Therapy Case Reports

Student's Name:
Title of Case Report:
I have read, understand, and agree to the terms and procedures for preparing clinical case reports as described in the Grand Valley State University IRB proposal "Physical Therapy Case Reports."
I assure that the examination, diagnostic and intervention procedures used and reported in this case are considered standard of care (are not experimental) clinical procedures provided under the direction of my clinical instructor. Patient interventions will not be altered in connection with the decision to write the case report. I assure that all information will be kept confidential and in compliance with HIPPA, as described in the patient participation consent form.
Student's Signature:
Date:
Clinical Instructor Signature:
Clinical Coordinator of Clinical Education Signature:



PHYSICIAN NOTIFICATION

Physical Therapy Case Report

Physician's Name:
Student Physical Therapist's Name:
Clinical Instructor's Name:
This is a courtesy notice to inform you that I will be conducting clinical case report on the following patient:
Patient's Name:
The examination, diagnostic and intervention procedures used and reported in this case report are considered standard of care (are not experimental) clinical procedures provided under the guidance/direction of a licensed physical therapist (student's clinical instructor). Physical therapy interventions and the physician's plan of care will not be altered in connection with the decision to write the case report. All information will be kept confidential, as described in the patient participation consent form that has been approved for use by Grand Valley State University IRB.
Student Physical Therapist's Signature:
Date:



MINOR PATIENT ASSENT

for Participation as a Participant in a Clinical Case Report

Student Physical Therapist's Name:	
· · · · · ·	(Student Physical Therapist)
Name of Supervising Physical Therapist:	
1 5 .	(Clinical Instructor)

Purpose. The purpose of case reports is to document and share information with health care practitioners about the examination, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis of a variety of patients seen in clinical practice. Case reports add to the body of knowledge in the medical field, contribute to the development of practice theory and lay the groundwork for large-scale research endeavors. As part of the Doctorate program in Physical Therapy at Grand Valley State University, I am required to complete a case report that includes reporting about a patient, their unique clinical presentation, their course of treatment in physical therapy and the outcomes of their therapy program. Therefore, you are invited to be a participant in a clinical case report.

Procedures. If you consent to be a participant, you will be given a physical examination that will include a series of appropriate tests and measures. Your examination data will be evaluated, and your treatment program will be designed based on a physical therapy diagnosis, and related prognosis. Your physical therapy treatment will follow standard clinical practice guidelines. Since I am a graduate student in physical therapy, my Clinical Instructor will supervise all examination and treatment procedures. No procedures or treatments will be performed that are experimental or not part of regular physical therapy practice. Your course of care in physical therapy will be carefully documented so that the information can be shared with others. Additional data in your medical records that are relevant will be collected and reviewed. At no time will your medical record and other raw data be released to the public or anyone not involved with you medical or rehabilitation care at the clinic/facility in which you are being seen. You will not receive compensation for your participation in this project.

Timetable. Your time commitment for participating in this case report will be the same as it would be for receiving standard physical therapy care for your condition.

Risks and Benefits. Risks associated with participation in a case report are the same as they would be for receiving standard care for your condition. A benefit from the dissemination of information about your case could be that other physical therapists and health care practitioners might gain knowledge about your condition and clinical presentation, your course of treatment and the outcomes of that treatment. Such knowledge may benefit other patients with conditions like yours that are being treated by physical therapists.

Confidentiality. Any information collected from you or about you is for the sole purpose of this case study and will be kept confidential to the fullest extent allowed by law. In very rare circumstances, specially authorized university or government officials may be given access to our case report records for purpose of protecting your rights and welfare or to make sure the case report was done properly. All written reports and oral presentations generated based on your

case will use pseudonyms or other identifiers (e.g., numbers) and will not identify the location or name of the clinical facility in which you received your care.

In some cases, photographic, videotape or audiotape data may be used in written or oral presentations of case reports. Identifying information in these mediums will be protected by blurring facial images or changing voices. Please indicate if you are willing to have such data presented publicly by initialing below:

Participant's Initials:	
Right to Refuse. You may refuse to participate a participant in this case report.	and still receive the care you would receive if you were not a
Questions. If you have any questions at this time, happy to answer them. I can be reached at:	please ask them. If you have additional questions later, I will be
Physical Therapy Student's Name:	
Address:	
Phone Number(s):	
Email Address:	
Integrity at Grand Valley State University at (616) You and your parents/legal guardian will be given	participant, you can contact the Office of Research Compliance and (5) 331-3197 or rci@gvsu.edu. n a signed and dated copy of this form to keep. Your signature below participant in a clinical case report and that you have read and
Participant's Signature	Date
Participant's Printed Name	
Parent/Legal Guardian Signature	Date
Physical Therapy student assurance statement and knowingly giving informed consent to participate	d signature: In my judgment, the participant is voluntarily and in this clinical case report.
Physical Therapy Student Signature	Date



CHILD PATIENT ASSENT

for Participation as a Participant in a Clinical Case Report

Student Physical Therapist's Name:	
	(Student Physical Therapist)
Name of Supervising Physical Therapist:	
	(Clinical Instructor)
	you might do in school. The therapists doing the case ig with you. When the report is over, they will write a
<u> </u>	you do not want to be. If you do not want to be in the o not have to be in it. So, you can change your mind
What do I have to do in the case report? The therapist in charge of the case report must You can ask questions about what you have to do	tell you what will happen to you during the study. do, and they will be answered.
✓ I have been told what this case report is about case report.	t and what may happen while I am taking part in this
✓ I know I may ask questions at any time and g	get them answered.
✓ No one has told me I have to take part in this case report.	case report if I do not want to. I want to be a part ofthi
Printed Name of Child	
Child's Signature (printing is OK)	Date
Witness' Signature	Date
Physical Therapy Student's Signature	. Date



PATIENT/GUARDIAN CONSENT

for Participation of a Minor as a Participant in a Clinical Case Report

Student Physical Therapist's Name:	
· · ·	(Student Physical Therapist)
Name of Supervising Physical Therapist:	
1 0 1	(Clinical Instructor)

Purpose. The purpose of a case report is to document and share information with health care practitioners about the examination, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis of a variety of patients seen in clinical practice. Case reports add to the body of knowledge in the medical field, contribute to the development of practice theory and lay the groundwork for large-scale research endeavors. As part of the Doctorate program in Physical Therapy at Grand Valley State University, I am required to complete a case report that includes reporting about a patient, their unique clinical presentation, their course of treatment in physical therapy and the outcomes of their therapy program. Therefore, your minor child is being invited to be a participant for this clinical case report.

Procedures. If you consent for your minor child to be a participant, they will be given a physical examination that will include a series of appropriate tests and measures. Their examination data will be evaluated, and their treatment program will be designed based on a physical therapy diagnosis and related prognosis. Their physical therapy treatment will follow standard care and clinical practice guidelines. Since I am a graduate student in physical therapy, my Clinical Instructor will supervise all examination and treatment procedures. No procedures or treatments will be performed that are experimental or not part of regular physical therapy practice. The course of care in physical therapy will be carefully documented so that the information can be shared with others. Additional data from medical records that are relevant will be collected and reviewed. At no time will the medical record and other raw data be released to the public or anyone not involved with your minor child's medical or rehabilitation care at the clinic/facility in which they are being seen. You will not receive compensation.

Timetable. The time commitment for your minor child's participation in this case report will be the same as it would be for receiving standard physical therapy care for their condition.

Risks and Benefits. Risks associated with participation as a participant in a case report are the same as they would be for receiving standard care for your minor child's condition. A benefit from the dissemination of information about this case could be that other physical therapists and health care practitioners might gain knowledge about this condition and clinical presentation, course of treatment and the outcomes of that treatment. Such knowledge may benefit other patients with conditions like your minor child's that are being treated by physical therapists.

Confidentiality. Any information collected from you or about you is for the sole purpose of this case study and will be kept confidential to the fullest extent allowed by law. In very rare circumstances, specially authorized university or government officials may be given access to our case report records for purpose of protecting your rights and welfare or to make sure the case report was done properly. All written reports and oral presentations generated based on your

	e data may be used in written or oral presentations of case vill be protected by blurring facial images or changing voices. presented publicly by initialing below:
Participant's Initials:	
Right to Refuse. You may refuse to allow your min care they would receive if they were not a participant	nor child to participate, and they will still receive the same nt in this case report.
Questions. If you have any questions at this time, plea happy to answer them. I can be reached at:	se ask them. If you have additional questions later, I will be
Physical Therapy Student's Name:	_
Address:	
Phone Number(s):	
Integrity at Grand Valley State University at (616) 331 You will be given a signed and dated copy of this fo	cipant, you can contact the Office of Research Compliance and 1-3197 or rci@gvsu.edu. orm to keep. Your signature below indicates that you have cipant in a clinical case report and that you have read and
Parent/Guardian Signature	Date
Parent/Guardian Printed Name	
	and signature: In my judgment, the parent/guardian is r their minor child to be a participant in this clinical case
Physical Therapy Student's Signature	 Date

case will use pseudonyms or other identifiers (e.g., numbers) and will not identify the location or name of the

clinical facility in which you received your care.



PATIENT CONSENT

for Participation as a Participant in a Clinical Case Report

Student Physical Therapist's Name:	
•	(Student Physical Therapist)
Name of Supervising Physical Therapist:	
	(Clinical Instructor)

Purpose. The purpose of a case report is to document and share information with health care practitioners about the examination, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis of a variety of patients seen in clinical practice. Case reports add to the body of knowledge in the medical field, contribute to the development of practice theory and lay the groundwork for large-scale research endeavors. As part of the Doctorate program in Physical Therapy at Grand Valley State University, I am required to complete a case report that includes reporting about a patient, their unique clinical presentation, their course of treatment in physical therapy and the outcomes of their therapy program. Therefore, you are being invited to be a participant for this clinical case report.

Procedures. If you consent to be a participant, you will be given a physical examination that will include a series of appropriate tests and measures. Your examination data will be evaluated, and your treatment program will be designed based on a physical therapy diagnosis, and related prognosis. Your physical therapy treatment will follow standard clinical practice guidelines. Since I am a graduate student in physical therapy, my Clinical Instructor will supervise all examination and treatment procedures. No procedures or treatments will be performed that are experimental or not part of regular physical therapy practice. Your course of care in physical therapy will be carefully documented so that the information can be shared with others. Additional data in your medical records that are relevant will be collected and reviewed. At no time will your medical record and other raw data be released to the public or anyone not involved with you medical or rehabilitation care at the clinic/facility in which you are being seen. You will not receive compensation.

Timetable. Your time commitment for participating in this case report will be the same as it would be for receiving standard physical therapy care for your condition.

Risks and Benefits. Risks associated with participating in this case report are the same as they would be for receiving standard care for your condition. A benefit from the dissemination of information about your case could be that other physical therapists and health care practitioners might gain knowledge about your condition and clinical presentation, your course of treatment and the outcomes of that treatment. Such knowledge may benefit other patients with conditions like yours that are being treated by physical therapists.

Confidentiality. Any information obtained which could identify you will be kept strictly confidential. All written reports and oral presentations generated based on your case will use pseudonyms or other identifiers (e.g., numbers) and will not identify the location or name of the clinical facility in which you received your care.

In some cases, photographic, videotape or audiotape data may be used in written or oral presentations of case

Student Physical Therapist's assurance statement and voluntarily and knowingly giving informed consent to	
-	
Participant's Printed Name	-
Participant's Signature	Date
You will be given a signed and dated copy of this form to voluntarily agreed to be a participant in a clinical case repinformation provided above.	
If you have any questions about your rights as a participa Integrity at Grand Valley State University at (616) 331-3	ant, you can contact the Office of Research Compliance and 197 or rci@gvsu.edu.
Number(s):	
Address:	Phone
Physical Therapy Student's Name:	
Questions. If you have any questions at this time, please a happy to answer them. I can be reached at:	ask them. If you have additional questions later, I will be
Right to Refuse. You may refuse to participate and still a participant in this case report.	receive the care you would receive if you were not a
Participant's Initials:	
	ented paonery by initialing below.
Please indicate if you are willing to have such data pres	be protected by blurring facial images or changing voices.

APPENDIX E | Systemic Review Option

Essential Components and Guidelines for a Systematic Review

Introduction

- Provides focused overview of the conceptual framework of the topic and its relevance to practice
- Supports the need for a systematic review (conflicting results in the literature, no previous review, deficiencies in prior review)
- Clearly states specific research question

Methods

- States search terms and databases searched
- States inclusion and exclusion criteria and relates them to the conceptual framework
- Describes method for evaluating level of evidence and methodological rigor

Results

- States results of search, and provides number and description of studies included and excluded (including reason for exclusion)
- Succinctly summarizes included studies with regard to level of evidence and methodological rigor
- Accurately summarizes findings of review with regard to the research question
- Uses tables and figures effectively to assist with presentation of results of level of evidence, rigor, or summary of included studies

Information from each study should include:

- Author and year of publication
- Description of included subjects (age, diagnosis (es), disease severity, relevant baseline characteristics)
- Means and standard deviations of outcome measures

Discussion

- Provides interpretation and level of confidence in results with respect to the research question, including:
 - Analysis and interpretation of included studies with conflicting results
 - Comparison and interpretation of present review with previous reviews (if applicable)
 - Impact of level of evidence and rigor on confidence of results
 - Provides insight (citing relevant research) about the state of the current published research on the topic
- States limitation of the review and its methodology
- Provides specific recommendations for clinical practice
- Provides specific recommendations for future research
- Provides succinct and accurate conclusions of the review results and clinical implications

APPENDIX F | Research Funding

APTA MICHIGAN INSTITUTE SMALL RESEARCH GRANT PROGRAM & APPLICATION

As part of its role in supporting and encouraging research in the State of Michigan, the APTA Michigan Institute for Education and Research has a small research grant program that is intended to provide out-of-pocket expenses/seed money for either basic or clinical research related to physical therapy and to encourage the development of new projects.

<u>Funding</u>: Two to five grants of \$100 to \$250 each will be awarded annually. Additional grants may

be awarded if funding is available. All of the money must be directly used for the research study (it cannot be used for future costs associated with a presentation such as

conference registration, travel expenses, poster printing, etc.).

Eligibility: Professional membership in the APTA Michigan is required for the primary investigator.

The primary investigator must also be a licensed physical therapist/physical therapist assistant or a PT/PTA student (with an established faculty advisor) within the state of

Michigan.

<u>Deadline</u>: Application deadline is August 1st of each year.

Submission & See the website for submission guidelines and instructions:

Instructions: https://aptami.org/general/custom.asp?page=institute-education-research

Commitment: Grant recipients agree to submit an abstract to the APTA Michigan Fall Conference

Research Committee (after completion of the study) according to established procedures and should acknowledge the Institute as a source of funding. If the abstract is selected, grant recipients are expected to present their findings at the APTA Michigan Fall

Conference.

CENTER FOR SCHOLARLY AND CREATIVE EXCELLENCE (CSCE)

Students are encouraged to pursue funding through GVSU's Center for Scholarly and Creative Excellence -- which offers grants to support the research endeavors of graduate students. For more information on current opportunities, please visit their website: Center for Creative and Scholarly Excellence (CSCE).

SCHOLARSHIP FUNDS

- Presidential Research Grants
- Academic Conference Fund
- Academic and Professional Enrichment Fund

RESEARCH POSTER PRINTING FUNDS

Department of Physical Therapy Policy for Scholarship Funding for Research Poster Printing

The PT Department will award funding support for the cost of poster printing (not to exceed the cost of printing a poster at the GVSU promotions office) for those students who submit an abstract and are accepted for State or National conferences to disseminate their research project, systematic review, or case report. Awards will be based on the availability of funds in the Physical Therapy Departmental budget for that fiscal year. To apply for these funds, students must submit their research abstract and evidence of acceptance to the PT Research Committee.

APPENDIX G | Data Analysis

DATA ANALYSIS ASSISTANCE

Statistical Consulting Center (SCC)

Department of Math and Statistics

Phone: 331-2444

MAK A-1-178 – Allendale campus

Make an appointment!

Data analysis assistance is available through the SCC during the <u>winter semester</u> through the **Math 319**, **Statistics Project**. This service will include handling your data on the computer, performing the appropriate statistical analysis, and interpreting the results of the study.

What is Math 319? Successful college graduates are those who are strong in oral and written communication, have excellent consulting and interpersonal skills, and have the ability to communicate statistical results clearly to general audiences. Math 319 is a course designed to meet this increasing requirement of business and industry for qualified personnel who can provide leadership by making management decisions that are based on disciplined data collection and statistical analysis.

Any member of the GVSU community wishing to obtain assistance from the SCC needs to prepare a short statement of the research program (one or two paragraphs). The statement should briefly describe the overall project, the data, the research hypotheses of interest, and where you are at in the project.

There is no charge for services, but students are limited to 10 hours of assistance per semester. Exceptions to the 10-hour policy may be made for projects in which joint publications are being pursued or for those with potential for future collaborative research.

Consulting Sessions

The initial consulting session will take place with a faculty member from the Department of Mathematics and Statistics. This session may often be purely expository, with the researcher explaining his or her research problem and the type of assistance that is needed. The faculty member will then decide how the SCC can best help. In some cases, this may mean consulting with another member of the department and possibly having them contact the researcher for a future meeting. In this way, we can best match researchers with the statistician that is more knowledgeable with the area of their research. **Note: SCC services are** *not* **available for the spring/summer semesters.**

Acknowledgement and Co-author

The SCC should be acknowledged in any paper for which the SCC consultant gives advice. If a major amount of work is done on any research project, the consultant should be named as a co-author per authorship guidelines outlined by **Center for Scholarly and Creative Excellence (CSCE)**.

Are you are planning a survey or working on a research project? Would you like a professionally supervised statistical data analysis? If so, please return the following request for assistance form to the SCC:

REQUEST FOR ASSISTANCE FORM

GVSU STATISTICAL CONSULTING CENTER

Address:		
A brief summary of your research proj		
I would like assistance with (check al	11 1/	
 [] choosing a research design [] reporting/interpreting results [] stating/testing hypotheses [] choosing statistical models [] designing questionnaires 	[] cstimation/prediction	
I plan to complete this stage of my res	search by:	

APPENDIX H | Presentation Information

PRESENTATION GUIDELINES

These guidelines apply to any presentation that you may give to any audience within and outside this program: class presentations, clinical in-services, and research presentations.

- 1. Most people find it difficult to grasp complex, technical concepts from verbal explanations alone. For that reason, you <u>must</u> use **audio-visual (A/V)** materials when you present research.
- 2. **Handouts** for the audience and/or abstracting your study findings may be helpful as well.
- 3. Whether you use PowerPoint slides, film, or video; you should strive to **highlight the essential ideas** of your material in the simplest form possible. Visual images and sound leave lasting impressions that reinforce the points you wish to make. The net effect is a more involved, satisfied, and attentive audience.
- 4. Choose your aids to reach the intended audience, and to accommodate the size of the arena in which you will present. For example, if the room is small and your audience is knowledgeable about your material (e.g. during the defense of your research project) you may wish to use slides or a video presentation and a lot of technical information. However, when you address a large audience that includes lay people and takes place in an auditorium, (e.g. DPT Research Day or MERC Research Forum) you may choose to use simple PowerPoint slides that outline and illustrate your main ideas, and you may address your audience with less technical information, keeping jargon to a minimum.
- 5. Try to **create a professional impression** with the materials you use for formal presentations (e.g. your Defense, the Research Forum, poster presentation at conferences). Please direct your questions to the faculty in your program for assistance with this on campus.
 - A research seminar on tips for designing platform and poster presentations will be given during the winter of your third year in DPT program by DPT Faculty Research Committee.
- 6. Finally, you should **always test your A/V** in the room that you will be presenting in as far in advance as possible and also test your equipment again on the day of your presentation.
- 7. Additional resources for designing effective presentations follow in this appendix and are available in the GVSU library-Frey learning Center.

PHYSICAL THERAPY FORUM

YOU CAN SPEAK PUBLICLY...AND ENJOY IT!!

Beth E. Salo, P.T. Contributing Editor/Consultant

At some point in their career, most therapists will be required to participate in some form of public speaking. Possibilities include in-services, addressing civic groups, presenting research, or even teaching classes. Many people understandably feel nervous in those situations. There are, however, some basic guidelines that, if followed, can make the experience successful, rewarding, and maybe even fun! These guidelines are just that -- guidelines. As you become more experienced, you will find you own ways of preparing and speaking.

There are two main aspects to giving a public speech that need to be included: *Preparation and Presentation*. These two areas are equally important in giving a successful speech. Neglect one of these areas, and your speech may be a disaster. I have found, through much experience, that if I have both of these areas under control, I can relax and enjoy myself. (Below is a summary of Beth's article):

Preparation

TOPIC | RESEARCH | WRITE | PRACTICE

If you are not ready to give the speech, there is no way you will present it well. Several areas are included in preparation.

Pick an interesting topic. If the topic has been chosen for you, find a unique approach to it. One way or another, you need to be interested in your topic so that you can make it interesting to someone else. If the topic is one that seems worn out, find a new approach to it.

Do your research. You need to know enough about the subject to tell your audience something new or give them a new perspective. You also need to be able to answer questions or refer them to the proper source to have their questions answered. Who knows, you may find some obscure fact in your research that makes the speech exceptional.

Write out your speech. If you are inexperienced in public speaking, write your speech out word for word. Make sure that you use appropriate anecdotes, but unless you are good at humor, don't overdo it. In addition, keep in mind that you need some subtopics if you are going to speak for more than 20 minutes, which is considered a good length for a person's attention span for one subject. Once you have written the speech, go back and reread it, then rewrite it. If it doesn't look good on paper, it won't sound good either.

Practice, practice, practice! Practice may not make it perfect, but it will come close. The only way you will know how the speech is going to sound is to practice out loud. You can practice in a mirror, in an empty room, or with a close friend. As you practice, you can edit the speech also. The better you know your speech, the more confidence you will have when you present it. When you feel like you

know the speech better, practice some more. You may take an outline with you when you are going to give the speech, if necessary, but it is best to be able to your speech without one. Knowing your speech well, will also allow you to be more spontaneous while presenting. You will be able to change the order of your subtopics, if needed. It will also enable you to deal with the unexpected.

Presentation

ATTIRE | EYE CONTACT | AUDIENCE | VOICE

Dress nicely – your clothes should be neat and conservative. Make sure your clothes are neatly pressed.

Don't fidget and use natural gestures. Don't add a gesture just to gesture; the audience will recognize the reason behind it immediately. This idea relates back to knowing your speech. You are less apt to act nervous if you are confident in what you're saying.

Maintain eye contact. This may be the hardest part of presenting a speech, but it is one of the most important areas. If you are looking at them, the audience will feel included and pay more attention to what you are saying. Eye contact will also give you invaluable clues as to how your audience is responding. If they all look bored, perhaps now would be a good time to have a subtopic introduced or to give an anecdote. Again, this relates back to knowing your speech well to allow for spontaneity. You also can maintain eye contact better if you don't require notes while giving your speech. Also, don't turn your back on your audience while you are speaking.

Use varied tones of voice and pace yourself. Vary the tone of your voice with what you are talking about for emphasis. Using your voice to its full advantage will capture your audience's attention and keep it. Pacing is also important. If you talk too slow, you will lose them and if you talk too slow, you will put them to sleep.

Use appropriate visual aids. Don't overdo, but visual aids can give an added dimension to your speech. Visual aids include slides, overheads, posters, demonstrations, etc.

Some Do's & Don'ts for a Successful Podium Presentation

Dr. Gregory S. Rash, Chair, Communications Committee & Editor of the GCMAS Newsletter

If you are going to give a podium presentation at the GCMAS meeting (or any other professional meeting) you may want to look over this material. While most of the presentations at GCMAS conferences are excellent, many individuals ignore or simply don't know the "rules of good presentations" when they prepare their PowerPoint slides for the conference. In an attempt to expose presenters to some of those "rules" I am drawing on similar advice given by several sources in regard to giving presentations at professional meetings: Richard Nelson (Sports Medicine Bulletin, 1990), Keith Williams (ASB Newsletter, 1990), Kit Vaughan (ASB Newsletter, 1993), Michael Whittle (ISB Newsletter, 1994) and ACSM Instructor for Presentations (1994).

Do's for Making Slides

- DO test slides in a room of similar size to the room you will be presenting. If you can't test in a similar room, follow the 10 times the width of the monitor rule. (i.e. if your computer monitor is 11 inches wide (not diagonal) then view the monitor from 110 inches back to see what it will look like when projected in a typical meeting room).
- DO check for spelling and other errors.
- DO use block fonts such as Helvetica or Arial and **bold for easier reading.**
- DO use a dark background color with a light color lettering.
- DO make sure all similar graphs have same scales when possible.
- DO avoid spurious accuracy, use same decimal places throughout presentation.
- DO use several simple slides rather than a single complicated slide to make your point.

Don'ts for Making Slides

- DON'T use *script* or fancy type fonts, they may look nice on the computer, but the audience may have difficulty reading them.
- DON'T use shadowing, again, they may look nice on the computer, but the audience may have difficulty reading them.
- DON'T try to use all 16,000,000 available colors, a few wisely chosen colors are more effective. Also, remember that up to 10% of the audience will have some degree of color blindness.
- DON'T go overboard with fancy backgrounds. If you include the multiple colors and graphics, you may find it difficult to find a contrasting color which allows your text to be easily read.
- DON'T use more than 7 words in width (42-character spaces) or more than 7 lines in height (14 single spaced lines). Follow the 10 times the width of the slide rule.
- DON'T use large tables of numeric information (recommended 6 lines X 5 columns is largest). Sources say not to use more than 2-3 rows/columns and others say to never use tables.
- DON'T try to put all graphs on single figure slide (recommended 3 graphs (lines) per figure is largest).
- DON'T put something on a slide if you don't plan to refer to it.
- DON'T just copy a drawing or illustration from your manuscript, have it redone for the presentation. Typically, it contains too much detail (is in a vertical alignment) and needs to be redone to be effective in a presentation.

Do's for Giving PowerPoint Presentations

- DO practice your presentation as many times as it takes you to become fluid and under the time limit. No one will ever complain if your presentation is under the time limit, but it is common to hear complaints when you run over. Many say a good average is 1 slide per minute. I've had as many as 1.5 slides per minute, but that was pushing the limit. Some societies limit the number of slides you can have in a ten-minute presentation to 6 slides.
- DO arrive at the room you will be presenting in early to introduce yourself to the moderator and to see how the A/V equipment (projectors, mic, video/computer projection, pointer, etc.) works.
- DO contact the conference staff well in advance if you are using a laptop, video or any other

- nonstandard A/V equipment to make sure it will be available.
- DO have someone else review your presentation before you give it at the meeting.
- DO use the pointer to point out relevant items on the slides as this keeps the audience in touch with your presentation. This is difficult to do if you are reading a script.
- DO have a clear ending to your presentation (i.e. Thank you for your attention...).

Don'ts for Giving PowerPoint Presentations

- DON'T read your presentation and don't just read the slide. Use the slides as a guide to prompt you through your presentation. Additionally, many podiums don't have enough light to allow you to see any written material to read.
- DON'T go overboard with fancy transitions and effects when making computer presentations they are distracting and take away from the presentation.
- DON'T use figures with multiple graphs and only talk about a couple of graphs in the figure. If you don't talk about it, don't put it on a slide.
- DON'T use a table and only talk about a few numbers in the table.
- DON'T wander away from the podium unless you have a wireless mic.
- DON'T apologize for the audience not being able to see your slides (see Do's & Don'ts for making slides).
- DON'T let the light pointer wander around the walls or ceiling.
- DON'T combine overheads and slides or slides and computer projection in the same presentation.
- DON'T have slides in the presentation if you don't plan to use them. It is very frustrating to listen to a presentation when the presenter clicks through several slides either because time is running out or they now decide they no longer need the information on the slides. Either way, the audience is left wondering if they missed something important and it gives the impression that the presenter did not take the time to adequately prepare.
- DON'T overdo the humor. Sometimes a relevant cartoon can be the best way to get your point across, but irrelevant cartoons, pictures, etc. can distract or offend.
- DON'T assume that everyone else in the audience is an expert in your field. GCMAS is a diverse group, and not all MDs, PTs, kinesiologists and engineers know everything about all disciplines. Make it clear so all can understand.
- DON'T talk to the screen or your notes, look up and out to the audience.

Effective Poster Presentations

When planning a poster presentation, it is useful to keep in mind the advantages or a poster over a podium presentation. Posters are available for viewing throughout the meeting and interested viewers have scheduled time for discussion, not just a few minutes. Your poster presentation should be clear, effective, and readable by viewers five feet away. The following guidelines have been prepared to help improve the effectiveness of poster communication.

Planning. Plan your poster early. Focus on a few key points with a style of data presentation to achieve clarity and simplicity. Does the use of color help? What needs to be expressed in words? Suggestheadlines and text topics.

Rough Layout. Enlarge your best initial sketch, keeping the dimensions in proportion to the final poster (see diagram). The rough layout should be full size. Print the title and headlines and draw rough graphs and tables to give an idea of proportion and balance.

Final Layout. When the artwork is finished, and text and tables are typed, plan the final layout to ensure that the message is clear. Do the important points stand out? Is there balance between words and illustrations? Is there spatial balance?

Balance. The figures and tables should cover slightly more than 50% of the poster area. If you have only a few illustrations, make them large. Keep text brief. The poster should be understandable without oral explanation.

Typography. Avoid abbreviations and jargon. Use a consistent type style with large type such as Arial. An $8-1/2 \times 11$ sheet of paper enlarged by 50% makes the text legible from five feet.

Eye Movement. The pathway of the eye over the poster should be down the columns. Arrows, pointers, numbers or letters can help to clarify the sequence.

Simplicity. Resist the temptation to overload the poster. More material often means less communication.

Poster Printing and GVSU Promotions Office Information

There are several different options for printing your research poster. These will be discussed in detail at the Research Seminar provided during your 3rd year winter semester. These printing options include: 1) GVSU Promotion Office; 2) Online printing companies with use of their poster templates, and 3) Kinkos. Students often select to print through GVSU Promotion Office as this option is cost effective. Information is provided below regarding placing a printing order through this office. Additionally, tips for enhancing the quality of a poster are provided below in this Appendix.

GVSU Promotions Office

0008 Kirkof Center **Phone:** 616-331-2340

Email: promotions@gvsu.edu

Price Sheet

Billing: Pay at time of pick-up {note, bring poster tube when picking up to preserve/store poster as these are not available at Kirkof or in the Allendale bookstore.

Format: Save poster as a PDF to preserve formatting and specify size of poster in your order.

Tips for Enhancing Quality of Poster

- 1. Save photos at 300 dpi or higher
- 2. Insert graphics/figures directly from excel, SPSS or other program to preserve details in high resolution (do not cut/paste)
- 3. Recommend that you save scanned objects as bmp (not jpeg) for better resolution
- 4. Leave a margin of approximate 3/4" on all sides
- 5. For use of GVSU logo: go to Institutional Marketing home page, search for logo instructions, download the high-resolution logos (noted "for printing")
- 6. View proof of section of poster in $8 \frac{1}{2}$ x 11 to assess format and quality

Guidelines for Content of Platform Presentations

- 1. See "Some Do's & Don'ts for a Successful Podium Presentation" in your research handbook for general guidelines. Also see "Critiquing and Preparing a Platform Presentation," an APTA video production located in the CHP Frey library.
- 2. Your slides should include the following items:
 - Concise background/review of literature
 - Statement of problem and purpose statement (hypothesis statement not necessary)
 - Methodology and data analysis
 - Results
 - Concise discussion/conclusion, including clinical relevance
 - One or two recommendations for future research (<u>not</u> a shopping list)

Note: A public professional presentation is <u>not</u> an oral defense, so you need to be concise and unhurried; in other words, you should <u>not</u> present all your data but only the most important results. It is <u>not</u> appropriate to present the limitations of your work, but you need to be prepared to answer questions regarding them.

APPENDIX I

APTA MICHIGAN ABSTRACT GUIDELINES

APTA Michigan encourages DPT students to share their research findings at their annual Fall Conference. Along with, Physical Therapists, Physical Therapist Assistants, DPT students are invited to present their research findings either as a poster or as a platform presentation. See the APTA Michigan website for submission instructions: aptami.org.

Abstract Submission Instructions

- ➤ All abstracts must be typewritten, single-spaced with one-inch margins, a 12-point font (Times Roman)
- > Do not center the title
- Limit the abstract to one page (8.5 x 11 inches). If graphs or charts are included with the abstract all must fit within the margins.
- <u>STUDENT RESEARCH ABSTRACT</u> The content <u>must</u> follow the form and sequence outlined below:
 - TITLE OF STUDY IN BOLD AND CAPITAL LETTERS
 - Author 1 (last name, initials), author 2, author 3, etc.; Facility/University, City, State, leave a line as space. <u>Underline</u> the name of the one author who will present the poster or platform. Do not include titles or degrees.
 - o Immediately after the author name(s), place a semicolon, and then type in the name of the facility or university in which the work being reported was conducted, and the city and state where the facility or university is located.
 - o Leave one blank line between this identifying information and the text of your abstract.
 - O INTRODUCTION: Introductory sentence(s) of why this research question is important for clinical practice followed by an explicit purpose or hypothesis statement(s). METHODS: Specify research design. Subjects: Describe the number and relevant characteristics of sample. Methods/Procedures: including instruments used in data collection. Statistical Analysis: statistical tests used and alpha level. RESULTS: Briefly summarize the results that relate to the purpose(s) of the study. Provide relevant statistics supporting your results. DISCUSSION: Briefly discuss the results that relate to the purpose(s) of the study. CONCLUSIONS: Summarize important results and state the conclusions from your results indicating the clinical relevance of the findings. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. List funding sources only.

CASE REPORT ABSTRACT

- o TITLE OF STUDY IN BOLD AND CAPITAL LETTERS
- O Author 1 (last name, initials), author 2, author 3, etc.; Facility/University, City, State, leave a line as space. <u>Underline</u> the name of the one author who will present the poster. Do not include titles or degrees.
- o Immediately after the author name(s), place a semicolon, and then type in the name of the facility or university in which the work being reported was conducted, and the city and state where the facility or university is located. Leave one blank line between this identifying information and the text of your abstract.
- <u>BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE</u>: Introductory sentence(s) of why this research question is important for clinical practice followed by an explicit purpose. <u>CASE DESCRIPTION</u>: Brief patient history and systems review, examination, clinical impression, approach/intervention. <u>OUTCOMES</u>. <u>DISCUSSION</u>. <u>ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS</u>.